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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C 2o —F E2-TF —T-hEF —T—)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results E
Year ended BEZE=ZA=+—H
31 March IEFEE
Profit/(loss) KA BEE AFEMN
attributable to wmAL ()
owners of the
Company 8,021 (13,347) (37,309) (18,871) (11,058)
Assets and EERESE
liabilities
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Total assets BERE 1,958,318 1,896,678 559,255 337,114 314,233
Total liabilities BERE (1,357,946) (1,334,566)  (430,493)  (245,158)  (212,913)
Total equity =BT 600,372 562,113 128,762 91,956 101,320
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED F B EBEZERER QA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Financial Review
Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$256.9 million compared
to approximately HK$56.2 million from continuing
operations for the last financial year, representing
an increase of about 357.4%, and profit for the year
ended 31 March 2022 of approximately HK$15.7 million
compared to approximately a loss of HK$47.6 million for
the last financial year, representing a decrease of loss
of about 132.9%. The significant increase in profit was
primarily resulted from 1) completion of disposal of loss-
making subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March
2021; 2) implementation of various measures on cost
control and on reduction expenditures; 3) no provision of
financial guarantee was made; 4) decrease in fair value
loss on investment properties during the year ended 31
March 2022 and 5) recognition on revenue of property
development business during the year.

The Board considers that the fair value loss on
investment properties are non-cash items and has no
effect on the cash flow of the Group's operations.

Business Review
Property sub-leasing and investment business

For the year ended 31 March 2022, this business
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$80.2
million compared to approximately HK$56.2 million for
the last financial year, representing a increase of about
42.8%, this business segment recorded profit for the
year ended 31 March 2022 of approximately HK$15.4
million as compared to loss of approximately HK$0.3
million for the last financial year. The increase in profit
was mainly resulted from the decrease in fair value loss
on investment properties.
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TTIENNA)357.4% @ RENEBEE-_ET-_—_F=
A=+—HBIEFEEHE5EH4915,700,000%
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HEITTE D BB 132.9% ° S F A N5 =
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428%  REBE-_T-_—_F=-A=+—H1
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JC M — BB E 8115 E5 18 49 300,000 %
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Property development business

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the property
development business in the PRC contributed revenue
of approximately HK$176.7 million (2021: Nil) and
segment recorded profit of approximately HK$20.5
million (2021:
to the Group. The increase in segment revenue was

loss of approximately HK$11.0 million)

attributable to the increase of booked gross floor area
(“GFA") delivered to the property owners during the
year, which was contributed from the Group’'s completed
property development projects, namely, Tangshang
Hanlin Mansion* (&M &) in Dongguan land situates
at Caole Village, Xiegang Town, Dongguan City, the
PRC designated for urban residential use and business
service use (R2 Class Il residential land (R2 8/
). The construction of the property was completed in
December 2021, there were approximately 9,672.1 sg.m.
booked GFA delivered and recognised into the revenue
during the year. The completed properties are held for
sale and the management expects part of the remaining
GFA will recognise in the next financial year. The Group
will remain proactive in reviewing its pace of business
expansion to maintain this business and achieve
sustainable growth of the Group, the management may
adjust its project development plans and schedules in
response to changing market conditions, as and when
appropriate.

Financial Services Business
Money lending

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no interest
income was recognised (2021: Nil). The management
would continue to find new opportunity for this segment.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Financial Services Business (Continued)
Securities, futures and asset management

The Group returned its Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) licenses to
Securities and Futures Commission in November 2020 as
no suitable business opportunities have been identified.
The management would like to focus more on the other
business segments of the Group.

IMPACT OF COVID-19

The Group has been faring well managing the impact
of COVID-19 pandemic to our employees and our
operations in the office. As part of the COVID-19
countermeasures and to prevent the spread of the virus,
the Group complied strictly with the disease prevention
regulations as required by the government, and stringent
infection preventive measures were implemented to
protect our employees. The Group’'s human resources
department provided information to employees as much
as possible so that they understood the pandemic
and the related prevention methods in the office. The
Group closely monitors the health of the employees by
the arrangement of intensive cleaning and disinfection
fogging service in the office and common area and
daily frequent clean up by diluted bleach, as well as by
providing sufficient alcohol-based hand rub, gloves, and
medical supplies. The Group also implements flexible
working hour arrangement and work from home policy to
reduce the risk of commute, monitoring and maintaining
low attendance ratio in office, seating arrangement
to promote social distancing, and encouraging virtual
business meetings to minimise the spread of the
pandemic. Employees were advised to wear masks at all
times and keep good personal hygiene and to avoid close
or physical contact in the office.

XKEERAIRE)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Outlook

The Group attained a solid fiscal year in the 2021/22
financial year amid the macroeconomic challenges due
to the resurgence of COVID-19 pandemic. The property
market cooled down and the financial institutions’ risk
preference started to shrink. The pandemic has put
forward higher requirements for the Group to review and
perform in terms of its future strategy planning during
the year ended 31 March 2022. Despite tremendous
uncertainties, the Directors of the Group have
implemented various appropriate measures to lower the
cost which improve the performance of the Group. The
Board is expecting the businesses to remain cautious,
meanwhile, to also maintain open-minded in identifying
new property development projects in the PRC in the
coming few years which could strengthen the financial
profitability for the Group.

The management team and the Board are made up
of highly qualified and competent individuals who are
experienced in the real estate development industry
in PRC. The team possesses significant knowledge,
resources and networks in China of which the Company
expects to be able to leverage for its future growth in
the property development, property sub-leasing and
investment projects in the PRC.

The Group has continued its efforts to consolidate and
realign its businesses to enable the Group to achieve
improvements in its financial position and to meet its
performance objectives. The Group is working towards
attaining a sustainable growth whilst continuously
exploring and diversifying other suitable investment
opportunities (if any) to enhance the overall earning
potential, and ultimately maximising the shareholder
value.
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XKEERAIRE)

=
i

T/ _HMBEE AEEEB
BRIER 2098 RNBERREBERES
KORBEBERET - MEMSEE &/
KERRREG T REBEE_T-__F=A
=T—HLEFEAR AEERERISM MR
B MBITARKREEERE - BEBELETA
B AREEECHRZHERERARE
A REAREE KRR  EFTSYHREME
BINRHSBERE RS RAKRBETES
PREs P IR E 0 B = SRAE 5938 o AN & B Y
BRNENNMEERIEAR -

/7
[ |

EREEEGMNEEEHAGTREEMERE
TELELR I EMERBOALAK - B
FRPEEEREMNZ BRMAKRBR -
MARRBEHMGENFAZSTATRELE
TEYMEERR DEIHERKEERB ZRE
e

AEBERBEESNEZERENAREEB AL
7R SR BE ST BE F5 AR O T T ER S R Tt 3 22 B
XEAR AKRBELBNREGHELRY
THRRMIERAEMEERERB(HE ) A
RABRBEMNE SN IREFEBRARRE
8-



The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
current and continuing principal activities of the Group
are mainly engaging in (i) property sub-leasing and
investment business, (ii) property development; and (iii)
money lending business. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance for the year
under review by business segment is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by pursuing

the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) investing in
more property sub-leasing and investments projects in
China; (ii) further diversifying the business of the Group

by tapping into the property development business; and
(iii) closely monitoring the cost and continue to impose
cost-cutting measures in the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Financial Review" in this report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the Group
operates are subject to changes in consumer perception,
preferences and tastes, in particular, for the property
sub-leasing and investment business and the property
development business. The Group’'s business and
financial performance depends on factors which may
affect the level and pattern of consumer spending in
China and in Hong Kong.

Market Risk

The business and operation of certain business segments
of the Group, in particular, property sub-leasing, and
investment business and property development business,
are basically conducted in the PRC, and therefore the
Group’s operation, revenue and profit margin are highly
impacting by the economies of the PRC and the measures
implemented by the PRC government. Any changes
of the measures may penetrate into overall national
economic conditions, and influence changes in consumer
confidence, consumption spending and preferences
in property sub-leasing and investment and property
development market in the PRC.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every
function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated
completely and that it may not always be cost effective
to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework.
The Group will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time and report such risk issues
to senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HERERAA
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts,
lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise
negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of
the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 78 to 79.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion
of the Group’s business and to capture investment
opportunities arising in the future. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year under review are set out in
notes 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year under review are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 83
and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company
as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had
entered into certain transactions with parties which
were regarded as “Related Parties” under the applicable
accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transaction which is considered
as a connected transaction under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) is further disclosed in the section
headed “Connected Transactions” below.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4 of the annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for
the two years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 4(o) to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) on 30 August 2012
under which the Directors may grant options to eligible
persons, including directors and employees of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme:

1.  Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the
purposes of attracting and retaining quality
personnel and other persons to provide incentive to
them to contribute to the business and operation of
the Group.

2.  Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors may at their discretion grant options
to (i) any director, employee or consultant of the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
or (iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose
service to the Group or business with the Group
contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of the
number of issued shares as at the date of this
report

The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme was in aggregate 27,942,462
shares as at 31 March 2022 (representing
approximately 1.2% of the number of issued shares
as at the date of this report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of the shares of the
Company (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme to any one grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the options must
be exercised under Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares

The holder of an option may subscribe for the
shares of the Company during such period as
may be determined by the Directors (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of grant of
the relevant option and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option
granted must be held before it can be exercised
unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

The period within which the options granted
must be taken up

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of, and from the date of grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

Options may be granted without any initial payment
for the options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company; (ii) the closing price per share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day; and (iii) the
average closing price per share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from 30 August
2012.

Details of the Share Option Scheme, including grant

and lapse of options, are disclosed in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Houjie (Resigned as Acting Chief Executive
Officer on 16 August 2021)

Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (Acting Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed as Executive Director and Acting Chief
Executive Officer on 16 August 2021)

Mr. Chen Youchun

Ms. Lui Mei Ka

Mr. Zhou Xin

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weiwu ("Mr. WW Chen”), aged 39, is an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and a
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. He
is a business entrepreneur and has extensive experience
in the real estate industry. Mr. WW Chen is the chairman
and ultimate beneficial owner of It RRLZRIBIBEXER
73 A8] (Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology and Estates
Limited*) (“BTIT"), a real estate development company
established in the PRC. Its latest property development
project is KEEe%E A, located at I FE AR L ME L X
4 7 B i B9 %% [ (Beijing Economic and Technological
Development Area, PRC*), with a total land area of
approximately 130,000 square meters.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Houjie (“Mr. HJ Zhou"), aged 40, is an
Executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. HJ Zhou was graduated
from 7@ R B AZ (Southwest Jiaotong University*)
and obtained a professional degree in business
administration. He was appointed to the Board on 8
December 2016. Mr. HJ Zhou is currently the vice
president of BTIT.

Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (“Mr. Jiang"”), aged 29, is an
Executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Jiang graduated from
Guangdong Police College with a bachelor degree in
law in 2015. He also obtained the Legal Professional
Qualification Certificate of People’s Republic of China in
2015 and Lawyer's Practice License in 2018. He was a
certified lawyer in Shanghai City Development (Shenzhen)
Law Firm. Mr. Jiang has extensive experience in
city renovation, real estate development, corporate
governance, and investment and financing operation.

ESEHEE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERSHREEE#®)
EEREREEBIEENE(2)

HITEE(E)

FAREEE(TAE#XE])  RFEHU+H
RARBRPTEETRFHEZEEKE - AR
BELEZNTIERBAZ TREIHE
BERBM - FR_T-—RF+_ANRAE
ZEMAEEE - ARREERBR/RLH
Bl -

TEXSHRETTIERE]D  RE_T N
BARBRTEZRFMEZEEGKE - 1Tk
ER-_ZF-LFEXEREEER > LB
EEBBELTEMN TR_ZE-—RAFREFEA
RAMBZRBEERBEIR T —N\F
RGEMNER  ShLETRZORYDZ
ARSI ERAD « TAEERMTERH - B
WERE  ARDEE  RBEEEFIEA
BEELR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 = FE R

17



18

EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Youchun (“Mr. YC Chen"), aged 46, is an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. YC Chen joined the
Company on 8 December 2016. He was graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law in 2000
with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and the University
of Northumbria in 2011 with a degree in Bachelor of
Laws. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Civil and
Commercial Law from Wuhan University in 2007, and a
Ph.D in International Law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in 2018. He is a foreign lawyer
registered with The Law Society of Hong Kong and is a
partner in Shenzhen Office of Junzejun Law Offices. Mr.
YC Chen has extensive experience in corporate finance,
initial public offerings and mergers and acquisitions.
Mr. YC Chen is also an independent director of Nomad
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 08645.HK) and
Nuode Investment Co., Ltd (stock code: 600110.SH),
which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Lui Mei Ka (“Ms. Lui”), aged 37, is an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee of the Company. Ms. Lui joined the Company
on 21 April 2017. She was graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor
of business administration in 2006. She is currently a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has extensive experience in financial
management and corporate finance. Ms. Lui is the
chief financial officer and company secretary of Feiyu
Technology International Company Limited (stock code:
1022), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Previously, she was the company secretary
and financial controller of LT Commercial Real Estate
Limited (stock code: 112) and the chief financial officer
and company secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock
code: 108), companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Xin (“Mr. X Zhou”), aged 42, is an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
X Zhou joined the Company in 13 December 2019.
He graduated from school of law in Wuhan University
with a juris doctoral degree in criminal law. He also
obtained a post-doctoral degree from Renmin University
of China Law School (majoring in criminal litigation law,
the post-doctoral degree programme co-organised by
Renmin University of China Law School and National
Prosecutors College of P.R.C.) and EMBA degree from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He currently serves
as an associate professor in school of law at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies, a Yunshan Young Scholar,
a head of Intelligent Law and Law Reform Research
Centre* at Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, a
director of China Association of Criminal Procedure Law
and a researcher of Litigation System and Law Reform
Research Centre* of Renmin University of China. In
October 2003 and September 2006, Mr. X Zhou obtained
certifications of Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert in
Route and Switching and Service Provider respectively,
with a global uniform certification number CCIE#12384.

Mr. X Zhou is mainly engaged in researches on criminal
procedure law, evidence law, judicial system, digital
evidence, internet crime etc., teaches programmes
of criminal litigation law and legal work ethic for
undergraduates, and teaches programmes of frontier
problems of criminal litigation law, court prosecution and
defense skills, court simulation training and study of legal
work ethic for postgraduate students.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

He has published various articles in core journals of legal
science, including Social Science in China, China Legal
Science, Peking University Law Journal, Studies in Law
and Business, Science of Law, Law Review, Tribune
of Political Science and Law, Political Science and
Law, Contemporary Law Review, Academic Research,
Social Scientist and Legal Daily, many of which were
reproduced in Chinese Social Sciences Digest and
Reprinted In Information Center for Social Science
of Renmin University Of China (procedural law and
judicial system), and nominated in the Sixth Dong Biwu
Achievement Award for Young Jurists.

Senior management

Mr. Lin Yu Cheng (“Mr. Lin") was appointed as chief
financial officer of the Company on 20 August 2020.
Mr. Lin has extensive experience in fields such as
property development, accounting, management,
investment and financing operation. He obtained the
Bachelor of Commerce from the Guangdong College
of Commerce* (FEERMEEZM) in 1995, and obtained the
Master of Law from the Sun Yat-sen University (F[L
AKE) in 2007. Mr. Lin is currently a senior accountant,
and also a PRC Certified Public Accountant, a PRC
Certified Tax Agent and a PRC Certified Public Valuer. He
was the deputy general manager of the Capital Market
Department of the Treasury Centre of Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007), and
the deputy general manager of Financing and Financial
Management Centre of Sinic Holdings (Group) Company
Limited (stock code: 2103).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Senior management (Continued)

Ms. Kwong Oi Man Patty (“Ms. Kwong") was appointed
as company secretary of the Company on 31 March
2021 under Rule 3.05 of the Rule Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).
Ms. Kwong holds a bachelor's degree of Commerce
from Monash University in Australia and she is currently
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia. She joined the Company
in April 2017 and is responsible for the Company’s
financial reporting, financial management, investor
relations and corporate secretarial matters. Ms. Kwong
has over 13 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and company secretarial practice. Ms. Kwong is also a
joint company secretary of China Hongguang Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8646), a company secretary of Yik
Wo International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8659) and
a company secretary of Hephaestus Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8173), which are listed on the Gem Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board
or the senior management, and no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
company and any of their subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ right to acquire shares or debentures

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2022
was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying share and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long position in the shares

EERENREERE#)

EERBRARERE S 2ER

R-ZBE-_—_F=F=+—H EFKAAQH
FEITHABRARRSKEE AR ER(E
ERBEARAERA(TESRBERGDE
XV E#B) I tn ~ HEREMRD REREZE R AR
RIEESF R EENEI2ERETEZERT
Mk ERE ERAMSE A EmEITA
EFETEFIH2ZERI([EEFE])
SITHERRN BRI Em KRBT -

(a) RGGZHFE

Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
held as at shareholding

31 March in the
Name of Director Nature of interest 2022 Company
R=2== EARAR
=ZA=+—H2 BREZ
EE=pA EmME FriFiR G # A BOBED L
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Note) Beneficial owner 800,000,000 34.65%
BRIZE (A aE) BB A

Interest of controlled corporation 579,806,977 25.11%

Rt EE R (Note)

(K1z)

Note:

1. These shares are owned by Grand Nice International
Limited (“Grand Nice"”) which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chen. By virtue of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), Mr. Chen
is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
1,379,806,977 Shares, representing approximately
59.76% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 March 2022.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A

Miat

1. ZEROMERETEZEEZRAZE
BEBRERAR(EBDES - BIE
BHERAEGO(BEBEFEE)
((BHEREEGRH ] RETEHER
AR A $£1,379,806,977 B B {5 7
B HARRR-_TE-_—_F=A
=+ —RAZBEITRAEL59.76% °



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities
(Continued)

(b) Underlying shares of the Company

Details of the Directors’ interest in share options
are disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Scheme" in this report.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2022,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements in relation controlling shareholder of the
Company to the Group and the transactions set out
under sections headed “Related Party Transactions” and
“Acquisition of subsidiaries under Asset Acquisition”
and disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statement, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries at the end of the year or at any time during
the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, other than the interests of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Disclosure of Interest” above,
the following persons had interests or short position
in the shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO:

FERR

RZZEZZF=RA=+—8 BREX K
B BAEBECEERARAEETHRAR
ZHEmIN BRBEARRIEES M E KRG E
6B REFE 2R T MATaEsE - AT
ATRBROSAEBRGOFHEEERIRE -

Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
as at shareholding
Name of shareholder Nature of interest 31 March 2022 in the Company
S EARAR
=HBA=+—H BREZ
RERER EEMtE 2R B A BMABS T
Grand Nice International Limited Beneficial owner 579,806,977 25.11%
(“Grand Nice") (Note 1)
EBBERAERAG([FEEBL (A1) E=EBA
Notes: Hiat -

1. Grand Nice is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen

Weiwu who is an Executive Director and the Chairman of

the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, according
to the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, or trusts. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental
protection and energy conservation to enhance the
capacity of sustainable development and undertake
relative social responsibility. Through the establishment
of an ever-improving management system, energy
conservation and environment protection were strongly
promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental,
Social and Governance Report under Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers
and business partners are the key to have continuous
sustainable development. The Company is committed to
be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced. The
Group also values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
The Group also works together with its business partners
to provide high quality products and services to achieve
the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material and

significant dispute between the Group and its distributors
and/or customers during the year under review.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregated sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 18% while the largest
customer accounted for approximately 8% of its total
revenue.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’'s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 92% while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 73% of its total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the year as disclosed
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transaction under the Listing
Rules, which are required to be disclosed in this report
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such connected transaction (as defined under
the Listing Rules) are set out below in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules:

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group, as
lessee, entered into several Leases Contracts (“Lease
Contracts 2020") with Beijing Tian’an Innovation
technology and Estates Limited* (kR KL RIBIBEBR
‘A&]) (“BTIT"), as landlord, a connected person of the
Group. 100% equity interest in BTIT is indirectly held
by Mr. Chen Weiwu, Mr. Chen Weiwu is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms
of the Lease Contracts 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Property:

Lease term:

Rental:

Rental deposit:

Other expenses:

Use of the
Property:

Condition:

Sublet:

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) i 12 %

Building 15, Building 32, Building 38,
Building 40, Building 41, Building 54,
Building 62 and Building 63

10 years

Ranging from RMB1.51 to RMB1.69
per sg.m. per day for the first year.
Such rental rates will be increased
by 3% for each year thereafter. The
rent shall be pre-paid by Beijing
Mingchuang to BTIT on a quarterly
basis.

Beijing Mingchuang shall pay a
deposit equivalent to 90-day rental
to BTIT not later than three working
days before the commencement of
the lease term.

After the lease term expires or the
contract is terminated, if there is
damage to the leased property,
ancillary equipment and facilities, and
the items in the handover receipt
of the Property, BTIT has the right
to deduct the corresponding repair
expense for the damaged part from
the rental deposit.

The tenants shall be responsible for
the utility’s charges, air-conditioning
charges, water charges and
renovation service fees (if any).

Research centers and ancillary offices

The transactions contemplated
under the Lease Contracts are
subject to the obtaining of approval
of the Independent Shareholders
in accordance with the applicable
regulations (including the Listing
Rules) by the Company.

Beijing Mingchuang may sublet the
Property provided that the consent of
BTIT is obtained.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
27 December 2019 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 February 2020 for further details.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group, as
lessee, entered into several Leases Contracts (“Lease
Contracts 2021") with Beijing Tian'an Innovation
Technology and Estates Limited* (dt R KL RIBIB %A
R~ & ) ("BTIT"), as landlord, a connected person of
the Group. 100% equity interest in BTIT is indirectly
held by Mr. Chen Weiwu, Mr. Chen Weiwu is therefore
a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms
of the Lease Contracts 2022.

Building 52, Building 58, Building 59,
Building 60, Building 61 and Building 69

The Property:

Lease term: Ranging from 10 years to 16 years

Rental: From RMB1.5 to RMB5.05 per sg.m.
per day for the first year. Such rental
rates will be increased by 3% for
each year thereafter. The rent shall
be pre-paid by Beijing Mingchuang to
BTIT on a quarterly basis.

Rental deposit: Beijing Mingchuang shall pay a
deposit equivalent to 90-day rental
to BTIT not later than three working
days before the commencement
of the lease term. After the lease
term expires or the contract is
terminated, if there is damage to the
leased property, ancillary equipment
and facilities, and the items in the
handover receipt of the Property,
BTIT has the right to deduct the
corresponding repair expense for
the damaged part from the rental
deposit.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Other expenses: The lessee shall pay management

fee of to landlord.

Use of the
Property:

Research centers, ancillary offices
and others.

Condition: The transactions contemplated
under the Lease Contracts are
subject to the obtaining of approval
of the Independent Shareholders
in accordance with the applicable
regulations (including the Listing

Rules) by the Company.

Sublet: Beijing Mingchuang may sublet the

Property provided that the consent of
BTIT is obtained.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
11 December 2020 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 January 2021 for further details.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, total rental paid
or payable by the Group under the Lease Contracts
amounted to RMB56,192,000.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above,
the Group did not conduct any other non-exempt
connected transaction or any continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total
number of 53 (2021: 44) employees. The remuneration
of the employees of the Group is amounted to
approximately HK$10.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$15.1 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are decided by the remuneration
committee of the Company, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Group periodically reviews its remuneration package
in order to attract, motivate and retain its employees.
Discretionary bonuses may be rewarded to the Directors
and employees depending on the Group's operating
results and their performance.

Further, the Company has also adopted a share option
scheme for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to any the Director, employee and other
eligible participant who made significant contribution
to the Group. The Group also provides external training
courses to its staff to improve their skills and services
on an ongoing basis.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy”). The Company considers stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders of the Company to be its
goal. According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter
alia:—

(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;

(i)  the Group's actual and future operations and
liquidity position;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(v) the retained earnings and distributable reserves
of the Company and each of the members of the
Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation
and industry’s norm;

(vii) the general market conditions; and
(viii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Company's articles of association and any other
applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy
at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally
binding commitment by the Group in respect of its future
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's businesses except that Mr. Chen Weiwu is an
ultimate beneficiary owner of BTIT which is engaged in
construction, property development and related business
in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of BTIT, the
Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the above businesses.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Current assets

As at 31 March 2022, current assets primarily consist
of (i) completed properties held for sale (ii) trade and
other receivables; and (iii) cash and cash equivalents.
The increase in current assets by approximately
HK$77.7 million or 5.8% compared to last year was
mainly resulted from: (i) completed properties held for
sale which is approximately HK$837.0 million or 100%
compared to last year due to the project had completed
in December 2021 (ii) decrease in trade and other
receivables approximately HK$39.7 million or 11.8%
compared to last year was mainly due to the decrease
in deposits, prepayments and other receivables; and (iii)
increase in cash and cash equivalents by approximately
HK$16.9 million or 9.6% compared to last year.

Non-current assets

As at 31 March 2022, non-current assets primarily
consist of investment properties and finance lease
receivables. The decrease in investment properties by
approximately HK$4.8 million or 1.7% compared to last
year and the decrease in finance lease receivables by
approximately HK$8.8 million or 3.2%, due to lease
payment of lease contracts during the year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Current liabilities

As at 31 March 2022, current liabilities primarily consist
of (i) trade and other payables; (i) contract liabilities;
(iii) amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries; (iv) lease liabilities; and (v) bank borrowings.
The increase in current liabilities by approximately
HK$39.2 million or 4.7% compared to last year was
mainly resulted from: (i) increase in contract liabilities
by approximately HK$145.2 million or 33.4% compared
to last year was mainly because of the increase in
deposits and instalments received on properties sold
(ii) decrease in bank borrowings for the property
development business in Dongguan, PRC; (iii) increase
in lease liabilities by approximately HK$5.8 million or
11.2% compared to last year; and (iv) increase in trade
and other payables by approximately 75.2 million or
273.1% due to the construction contract not yet settled
in Dongguan, PRC.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank borrowings in
total of approximately HK$99.2 million (2021: HK$289.5
million).

The maturity profile of the Group's bank borrowings is
set out as follows:
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank borrowings
were denominated in RMB. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group's bank borrowings balance of approximately
HK$99.2 million was charged at a fixed interest rate. The
bank borrowings carry effective interest rates of 7.24%
per annum (2021: 7.24% per annum).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, all convertible
bonds had converted to ordinary shares of the Company.
Please refer to the Company’s next day disclosure return
date 30 July 2020 for details.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was
not applicable (since the Group maintained net cash
position as at 31 March 2022) compared with 31.1% as
at 31 March 2021. The Directors consider the Group as
in a healthy financial position. Such ratio was calculated
with reference to the bank borrowings deduction of cash
and bank balances over the Company’s equity attributable
to owners of the Company. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group had net current assets of approximately HK$531.3
million as compared with the net current assets as at
31 March 2021 of approximately HK$492.8 million. The
current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was 1.6
compared with 1.6 as at 31 March 2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

The revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, matches the currency
requirement of the Group’s expenses while other foreign
currencies were immaterial. During the year ended 31
March 2022, no financial instrument was entered into by
the Group used for hedging purpose. The Group was not
exposed to any exchange rate risk or any related hedges.

Fund raising activities

In prior years, the Group completed the following fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and
raised the gross proceeds of approximately HK$42.0
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million, with the net proceeds of approximately HK$41.8 S FRIAFEEH A 41,800,000 7T - EFEBH
million after deduction of issuance expenses. Details of T
which are set out as follows:
Amount of
Amount of Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds Brought Expected
Brought Forward to timeline/
Forward to the Amount the year Amount Amount of  Intended use
Date of Description of fund yearending  utilizedupto ended 31 March utilized up to unutilized  of unutilized
announcement  raising activities Intended Use of Proceeds 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 2022 31 March 2022 proceeds proceeds
L gEzgez
Z-£2f BE C3-CEER 2
St-ALEE  CE-§ZR C-ALFE CE0cf RERER/
ALt zt-8 2fEsE  ZB=t-R WABR  HAERAE
MRS REEBZHE figaaz RERE FELE  (0ERLE FHCE  CCEREE  MERGZRE  MELRERR
31 August 2018 lssue of convertible bonds in an Money lending business HKS27.2 million nil HKS27.2 milion ~ HK$27.2 millon i N/A
aggregate principal amount of of the Group in Hong
HK§42,031,080, which has been Kong: approximately
converted into ordinary shares of HKS$27.2 million (as per
the Company on the announcement of the
30 July 2020 Company dated 25 August
201, the use of proceeds
have been reallocated to
general working capital)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) Bt FSCI Bl (2)
Fund raising activities (Continued) EEEE(E)
Amount of
Amount of Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds Brought Expected
Brought Forward to timeline/
Forward to the Amount the year Amount Amount of  Intended use
Date of Description of fund yearending  utilizedupto ended 31 March utilized up to unutilized  of unutilized
announcement  raising activities Intended Use of Proceeds 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 2022 31 March 2022 proceeds proceeds
o B fEzEE
Z-§25 B2 CR-IEZR Bz
St-BLEE  C3I-¥ZF C-ALFE Z80CE RHRER/
Pl E Zt-8 ZfEgE  ZR=t-R WABA  HABRAS
MRS SETBEE fiREcRERR FESE  /DERLE FESE  CHREE  FRHEceE  REZHERR
General working capital of HK$14.6 million ~ HKS14.6 million nil nil il N/A
the Group: approximately
HK$14.6 million
1587 14600000 14,600,000 z z z TR
~fhEgEE ) BT BT
14,600,000 70
26 July 2017 Issue of convertible bonds in an Potential acquisition (Note 1) HK$32.1 million nil - HKS32.1 milion  HK$32.1 million il N/A
agregate principal amount of approximately HK$32.1

HKS$46,341,960, which has been million
converted into ordinary shares of

the Company on
30 July 2020
SEtE BfiRRBEAMMNM0ATITR  BEUEIR)) 32,100,000 T R0000 32100000 5 TR
TEZtAR RER EEMCECEELACT 3200000057 B o A
REEARALT AR
General working capital of nil il il il il N/A
the Group: approximately
HK$14.0 million
FEEZ g g z z z TR
—HegRe 4
14,000,000 7
Note 1: BiaET -
The proceeds of approximately HK$32.1 million was utilized to FT{S5KT84732,100,000 8 TER—E-_EF+ A A
settle the consideration of an acquisition in July 2020. R FWERE -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Charges

As at 31 March 2022, certain bank borrowings of the
Group in the total amount of approximately HK$99.2
million were secured by i) corporate guarantees provided
by related companies of a non-controlling shareholder,

and a subsidiary of the Group; ii) personal guarantees
provided by Mr. Chen Weiwu, the director of the Group
and his spouse; iii) entire equity interest of a subsidiary

of the Group; and iv) completed properties held for sale
of the Group with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$837.0 million.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings
were secured by i) corporate guarantees provided by
related companies of a non-controlling shareholder, and a
subsidiary of the Group; ii) personal guarantees provided
by Mr. Chen Weiwu, the director of the Group and his
spouse; iii) entire equity interest of a subsidiary of the
Group; and iv) properties under development of the
Group with carrying amounts of approximately HK$770.4
million.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
other charges on assets as at 31 March 2022.

Contingent liabilities

Please refer to note 44 of this announcement for material
contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2022.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 30 July 2021 and circular dated 30 September
2021 in relation to, among other things, a very substantial
acquisition and connected transaction, respectively.
Capitalised terms used under this sub-heading shall have
the same meaning as in the said announcement and
circular unless otherwise defined in this report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

On 30 July 2021, the Company entered into the equity
sale and purchase agreement (the "Equity Sale
and Purchase Agreement”) with Shenzhen Yaoling
Investment Company Limited* CFYITREREFGRAT])
(“Shenzhen Yaoling”), the non-controlling shareholder
of an indirect subsidiary of the Company, Dongguan
Huachuangwen Land Ltd.* (REEmEA X EMHR A a])
(“Huachuangwen Land"”), to acquire 55% equity interest
of Huachuangwen Land (the “Acquisition”). Upon the
completion of the Acquisition, the Company will hold
90% of the equity interest in Huachuangwen Land
and the financial statements of Huachuangwen Land
will continue to be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. The consideration
shall be settled by way of (i) cash of RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$48,000,000); (ii) issue
and allotment of 450,000,000 shares of the Company
at an issue price of HK$0.2 per share, resulting in a
total value of HK$90,000,000 of shares and (iii) issue
of convertible bonds of the Company in the principal
amount of HK$27,120,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB22,600,800). Details of the Acquisition were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30 July
2021 and the Company’s circular dated 30 September
2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

Subsequently, the Acquisition was approved at the
special general meeting of the Company on 20 October
2021. On 29 October 2021, the Company announced that
as additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent to the Equity Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Company and Shenzhen Yaoling agreed
in writing to extend the long stop date from 31 October
2021 to 31 December 2021 (or such other date as the
parties may agree in writing).

On 31 December 2021, the Company announced that
additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent to the Equity Sale and Purchase
Agreement the Company and Shenzhen Yaoling agreed in
writing to extend the Long Stop Date from 31 December
2021 to 31 January 2022 ( or such other date as the
parties may agree in writing). On 31 January 2022, the
Company announced that as additional time is required
for the fulfillment of the conditions precedent to the
Equity Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Company and
Shenzhen Yaoling agreed in writing to extend the long
stop date from 31 January 2022 to 31 March 2022 (or
such other date as the parties may agree in writing).

On 31 March 2022, the Company announced that as
additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent to the Equity Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Company and Shenzhen Yaoling agreed
in writing to extend the long stop date from 31 March
2022 to 30 June 2022 (or such other date as the
parties may agree in writing). As at 31 March 2022, the
Acquisition has not yet completed.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company and senior management of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in notes 12 and 40(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float in accordance with
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2022 and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

On 1 March 2022, BDO Limited who acted as auditor
of the Company for the period from 25 August 2004 to
1 March 2022, resigned and CCTH CPA Limited was
appointed on 1 March 2022 as auditor of the Company to
fill the casual vacancy and hold office until the conclusion
of the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements for the year have
been audited by CCTH CPA Limited which will retire and
being eligible, after themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Weiwu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

*  For identification only
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INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals.
The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
has complied with all the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The below sets out the Group's Corporate governance

principles and practices, indicate how the Group has
applied relevant principles in the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group's business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibility for decision making in all
major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, the entering
into material transactions, appointment of Directors,
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and other significant financial
and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior executives and the management.
Their responsibilities include the implementation of
decisions made by the Board, the co-ordination and
direction of day-to-day operation and management of the
Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board. The Board receives
full support from senior executives to discharge its
responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained from
the Board before entering into any material transactions.
The statement of the auditors of the Company in relation
to their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 69 to 77 of this report.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five
Directors, including two Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Zhou Houjie (Resigned
as Acting Chief Executive Officer on 16 August 2021 and
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (Appointed as Executive Director
and Acting Chief Executive Officer on 16 August 2021))
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Youchun, Ms. Lui Mei Ka and Mr. Zhou Xin.

One of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management
expertise. The number of Independent Non-executive
Directors is more than one-third of the Board.
Biographical details of the Chairman and other Directors
are set out in the paragraph headed "Directors and
senior management” on pages 16 to 25 of this report.

The presence of three Independent Non-executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable
balance between Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance
can provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and of the Group. The
Independent Non-executive Directors provide to the
Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so
that independent judgment can be exercised effectively.
They have also participated in Board meetings and
general meetings, dealt with potential conflicts of
interest, served on Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
and scrutinised the Group’s performance and reporting.
Through their active participation, the management
process of the Company can be critically reviewed and
controlled.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their
field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards
of personal and professional ethics and integrity. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. Each Director shall disclosed to the
Company at the time of his/her appointment the positions
held in other listed companies or public organisation
and other significant commitment, and is required to
provide any change on such situation in a timely manner.
The Board believes that the ratio between Executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance
function over the Board in the decision making process.

The Board participates in the selection and approval of
new Director. Independent Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term. Under the Bye-laws, all
the Directors are required to retire and be re-selected by
rotation at least once every three years.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG Code,
an updated list of the Directors identifying their role and
function are available on the websites of the Company
(http://www.ts674.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.
hkex.com.hk). The Company will review the composition
of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise,
skill and experience to meet the needs of the Group's
business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment
of all the guidelines for assessing independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are identified
as such in all corporate communications containing the
names of the Directors. In addition, there is no material
relationship between Board members.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets at least four times a vyear,
approximately quarterly intervals. Directors attend
meetings in person or through other electronic means
of communication to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results,
annual results or other significant matters. Draft notice
and agenda for regular meetings are provided to all
Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for
deliberation at the meetings at least 14 days before the
meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior
management from time to time provides to the Directors
information on activities and development of the
business of the Group. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing agenda for the meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in
connection with the meetings are observed and complied
with. The agenda and Board papers are then sent to
all Directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting. The
Company Secretary also takes detailed minutes, keeps
records of matters discussed and decision resolved at
the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EEeeERRREAE#)
MEETINGS (Continued)

During the year, details of the Directors’ attendance in RERN EFHFUA TSR ZFBEHIOT :
the following meetings are set out below:

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
&/ &/ &/ &/ b/ &/
RERLR RERHLE AERLE RERHLE REK AER
g3 BNZEE §Mzeg R#z88 ERERR ERERR
£3:5] EE ] EE EE ] g2 BEAE KAXE
Executive Director
HnEs
Mr. Chen Weiwu A4 — — 2 n —
RERLE
Mr. Zhou Houjie Al - 212 - [l 1
REfLSE
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (Appointed on 16 August 2021) 22 — - n n
TEXBRRE(R-E=—4/| f 17 HEEH)
Independent Non-executive Director
BUFHES
Mr. Chen Youchun 44 33 22 22 n n
RRAERE
Ms. Lui Mei Ka 44 33 - — 1 N
ExEaT
Mr. Zhou Xin 44 33 202 212 1 N
EFpts
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances, review the annual and
interim results, and make decisions on other significant
matters. The execution of daily operational matters is
delegated to the senior executives of the Group.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times and they may make further
enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The Company Secretary
also ensures that proper Board procedures are followed
and that all applicable laws and regulations are complied
with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate,
they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group's expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent Non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal
with such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and
procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special
general meetings of the Company are the primary
forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are
encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings on their behalves
if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
held its annual general meeting on 24 September 2021.
Details of major items discussed in the annual general
meeting are set out in the circulars of the Company
dated 20 August 2021.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business of the
Group. As such, the Group provides a comprehensive
and formal induction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are
provided so as to ensure that new Directors are familiar
with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor-made
for each Director taking into account their background
and expertise.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS (Continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional training so as to develop and refresh
directors’ knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors
participated in the following training:
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Type of training

Name of Director BEEHZ IR
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chen Weiwu RERLE A B
Mr. Zhou Houijie BAB&EE A B
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (Appointed on 16 August 2021)  TEAXZRER-ZE=—F/\A+ HEZIE)

Independent Non-executive Directors BUYKHTES

Mr. Chen Youchun BERERE A B
Ms. Lui Mei Ka BERZT A B
Mr. Zhou Xin B fE A B

A: attending seminars, briefing sessions, conferences
and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating
to the economy and/or general business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and
thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the
number and nature of offices held by such Director in
public companies and organisations and other significant
commitments.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 6 March 2015. The Remuneration
Committee currently consists of one Executive Director
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Youchun (Chairman), Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao and
Mr. Zhou Xin.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board
regarding the overall remuneration policy, remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group,
share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund
and other compensation-related issues. This committee
consults with the Chairman and/or Chief Executive officer
on its proposals and recommendations and has access
to professional advice, if necessary. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is posted on the Company's website. The
Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.

To summarize, the work done by the Remuneration
Committee included the determination of the policy
for the remuneration of Executive Directors and the
assessment of the Executive Directors’ performance of
their service contracts.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date
version of written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of one Executive Director and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Youchun and Mr. Zhou Xin.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’'s corporate strategy, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board,
selecting individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is posted on the Company's website. The
Nomination Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. This included
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship. The Nomination
Committee considered that an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date
version of the written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’'s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the Audit Committee are set out in
its specific terms of reference which is posted on the
Company’s website. The Audit Committee shall meet at
least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Youchun (Chairman), Ms. Lui Mei Ka and Mr. Zhou Xin.
No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the existing auditing firm of the Company within one
year on the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had
any financial interest in the auditing firm. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing
and financial reporting matters with the management
team of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee
held three meetings to review, among other things, the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2021, annual report for the year ended 31
March 2021. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes as well as the re-appointment of
the external auditor. There is no material uncertainty
relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. There is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Audit
committee and the Directors in respect of matter about
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by BDO Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that CCTH CPA Limited
be nominated for appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Company Secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit
Committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings,
draft and final version of Audit Committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit
Committee for comments, approval and record as soon
as practicable after each meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits of the selected candidates and their contribution
to the Board. The Board considered the measurable
objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
professional experience and cultural and educational
background, and agreed that these measurable objectives
were achieved for the diversity of the Board which
contributed to the enhancement of corporate strategy
and the business development of the Company.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration in
respect of audit services provided by the auditors, CCTH
CPA Limited, amounted to HK$1,000,000 (BDO Limited
2021: HK$1,550,000). For non-audit services included
professional services in respect of the interim financial
information of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2021 and major transactions, the services
provided by BDO Limited, amounted to HK$440,000
(2021: HK$700,000).
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been
made with all Directors, who have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31 March 2022, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The auditor is
responsible to form an independent opinion on the
audited consolidated financial statements and report the
same to the shareholders of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for assisting
the Board by ensuring good information flow within
the Board members as well as the Board policy and
procedures being followed properly. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for organizing general
meetings of the Company and facilitating the induction
and professional development of the Directors. The
Biographical details of the Company Secretary is included
in the Biographical details of Directors and senior
management of the Directors’ Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company

Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions including but not
limited to:

° to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Company;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provision of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’'s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting
(Continued)

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities
to ensure that the consolidated financial statements on
annual and interim results of the Group are published in
a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 69 to 77.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for
maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems including a review on
their effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable
development of the Group. The risk management and
internal control systems, under a defined management
structure with limits of authority, are designed for the
Group to identify and manage the significant risks to
pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance
effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable
financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
achievement of the Group's business objectives and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board is responsible for the determination of the
Group’s risk profile within its acceptable tolerance
levels in business operation, oversight of management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of overall
risk management process from risk identification, risk
assessment, establishment of appropriate risk responses
and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to
ensure the systems are effectively established and
maintained.

The risk management process is structured from
management of the Group from respective business
functions at execution level to the Board, together
assisted with the Audit Committee in decision-making
and monitoring level. Management of the Group
identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and
potential risks through a detailed assessment process
and determines the appropriate mitigation strategies
and control measures in response of the identified risks.
Ongoing evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks,
respective measures, and results are carried out and
reported to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-
making level, assisted with the Audit Committee,
reviews the risk appetite, risk management process and
strategies and also the internal control systems and
provide recommendations for any improvement on the
systems in an ongoing basis to ensure risk management
effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of
the CG code. The Group conducts review of the risk
management and internal control systems on annual
basis. To strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the “Adviser”) to
perform independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of certain subsidiaries’ risk management
and internal control system for the year ended 31 March
2022. The scope of review was determined and approved
by the Board, including review of risk management
functions of selected entities of the Group on a rotation
basis. The Adviser carried out the review which involves
the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls;

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the risk
management and internal controls review;

3. Reviewing relevant documentation on site relating
to the risk management and internal controls
review;

4.  ldentifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls; and

5. Communicate the identified control deficiencies, our
recommendations, remediation plan of management
and follow up results to the Audit Committee so
as to facilitate the Board and Audit Committee in
evaluating of the Group’'s risk management and
Internal Control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view
there are no material risk management and internal
control defeats were identified by the Adviser during
the course of review. With the discussion between
management, the Adviser and the Audit Committee, the
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee,
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The
review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen
the Group's control environment and processes.

The Company formulated the inside information policy.
The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees
appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The Company
shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.
Procedures for collection, evaluation of information and
the publication manner are in place to ensure timely
reporting of the inside information to the Board and the
stakeholders of the Group.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business.
All Directors have formal letters of appointment setting
out key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due
to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated
to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have specific terms of reference setting
out the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committee. All committees are required by their terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their
decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before
taking any actions.

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial
to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’
and Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as
determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A

ESTERICER

EXETRANASEXG I EERBMERR
FHRE - 2REZTHELAZETE 7|8
HREZERERRGES - ARARE RS
ZHRESL  FRRKEEXBAEZAE
BIERATZETEBRTAREZEEE -

MEZEe(HB%RZE8E  FHEEE IR
HAEREE)HEAERERE  JHASZES
ZHENAREBEE FEZBREHARERER
BlzRERERE  HANMEBEERNES
ERE ARETHEBRT  EERIEM
TERRRES S -

E=eEFRIEZeERTRZE S ZH
BN BRZFERENTIBRE L
BUHARRRERER -

EESRSABEEERR

ARAPIEHREFEIRERANAESE
KRERSREREERBESLSABEET
Rz - AR R AREE -



CHEARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders.
The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can
be reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
the annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer attended
the annual general meeting in 2021 (the “2021 Annual
General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of
each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company
conforms to the best corporate governance practices.
The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual
general meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the holding of the
annual general meeting, in which it sets out the details of
each resolution proposed and other relevant information.
At the 2021 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions
were put to vote by poll. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, was
engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures
for demanding a poll on resolutions at general meeting
are contained in the Bye-laws. An explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman would respond to queries raised by the
shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The poll
results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
Company Secretary or other appropriate members of
senior management also respond promptly to inquiries
from shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of Company Secretary
at Unit 1201, 12/F., 29 Austin Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition
a special general meeting, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the
Company) at their own expense have the right by written
requisition:

(@) to require notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting
to be given to shareholders; and/or

(b) to request for circulation to shareholders any
statement of not more than one thousand (1,000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at any general meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by
the requisitionists in a single document or in separate
copies prepared for the purpose. A copy of the signed
requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses, must be deposited at
the Company's registered office in Bermuda:

(a) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six (6) weeks before the
annual general meeting unless an annual general
meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less
after the copy has been deposited, in which case
the copy shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited though not deposited within the time
required; and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one (1) week before the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to shareholders
and investors. The Company updates shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices,
announcements and circulars. The Company's website
(http://www.ts674.com) provides a communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

With a view to bringing the Bye-laws in line with certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda between 2012 and 2015 and to
modernising and updating the Bye-laws, the amendments
to the Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of
the Company in September 2015. Details of which are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 August
2015.

The Bye-law is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CCTH CPA LIMITED

RIEXEEEEIRAE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FEIEEEZERARAR)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 78 to 232, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from sale of completed
properties

Refer to note 7 and the accounting policies in note 4(k)
(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised revenue amounting
to HK$176,692,293 from sale of completed properties,
representing approximately 69% of the Group's total
revenue, for the year ended 31 March 2022. Revenue
from sale of completed properties is recognised
when the criteria for the transfer of properties to the
customers set out in the sale and purchase agreement
are fulfilled. We focused the revenue recognition from
sale of completed properties as a key audit matter in
view of the significant amount of revenue recognised for
the current year end.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition
from sale of completed properties included:

° We obtained an understanding of the
management’'s controls over the recognition of
revenue from sale of completed properties at
appropriate point of time;

° We reviewed, on a sample basis, the sale
agreements entered into between the Group and
its customers to understand the criteria for the
delivery of completed properties to the customers
through which a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when control of the completed properties
underlying the particular performance obligation has
been transferred to the customers; and

o We tested whether the criteria for the transfer
of completed properties have been fulfilled
by checking, on a sample basis, to the sale
agreements, the delivery notices signed by
customers for handover of the properties to
the customers and the settlement status of the
consideration.

Key audit matter

Impairment loss on completed properties held for sale

Refer to note 23 and the accounting policies in note 4(j)
to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of completed properties held
for sale was HK$837,029,266 as at 31 March 2022,
representing approximately 43% of total assets of the
Group at that date.

Impairment assessment of these properties held for
sale was based on management judgment of the net
realisable value of the properties which was determined
by reference to the contract prices for the sale of the
properties to customers.
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We have identified the impairment of the completed
properties held for sale as a key audit matter due to the
significant carrying amount of the properties at 31 March
2022 and the management judgments involved in the
estimation of their net realisable value.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the
impairment loss on completed properties held for sale
included:

° We obtained an understanding of the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls in respect of the property
development cycle with particular focus on controls
over cost budgeting and periodic review, sources
of impairment assessment data and calculation of
impairment provisions.

° We compared the carrying amounts of the unsold
completed properties to their respective contract
sale prices as shown in the list of properties
prepared by management of the Group.

° We selected, on a sample selection basis, the
agreements entered into between the Group and
its customers for sale of properties and compared
the contract sale prices and other terms stated
in the agreements to those set out in the list of
properties.

° We checked the reasonableness and calculation of
the net realisable value of the unsold completed
properties prepared by the management and
evaluated as to whether the unsold completed
properties for sale are accounted for at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements on 29 June 2021.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’'s internal control.

B % B AR S

BREMHBERREMBHRR2EE

EEZERRAERTERGAVBHRERE
BTN EARMFHERMER 2 EMER
SRR YHHEEESER 2 RHENER
HFoBEFER BTUEARR)ZRARZE
—NN\—FRREF 0GRS - FRikz o
ABFEREEMEN - EFETERARER
REEREMALE ERAREFMEE -

FEETBSEAZE (EBTERERRES
BEZENETCERTE—ERERMA
TFHEZEARERRA - 55 3RER A AT R RGF
SHEER  WEBXBEERSEBRBBRTA
FTEEREREEAGMBERRREL ZEER
ERF - RIBAR BB A RERL o

RIEFEEZENETERR  BEFERE
A REBEEFZEETREERERMRE

T o BE L
X =R N

o BAKFEEEVBHRRESTFEAR
FFEEERMEB Mz EAHRRAAR -
RELERRERTRRITEREF &
SRERMEEEZEERTEZERR
HER - HRRFSRAREE B
# - MEER  REERMIOXE R
B FUREEERMULERZ BN
AR BRI R R EOR AL B IR N B R T B B
ZEREBRFCARABER °

R A2 G B 2 NERESHE - ARG
BERER BEXFEHEE BE5H
NEERE 2 BEHERERER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 = FE R

75



76

B % B AR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BEREBERAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

Ng Kam Fai
Practising Certificate no.: P06573

Unit 1510-1517, 15/F., Tower 2,
Kowloon Commerce Centre,

No. 51 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong
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REZTHEHKSER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-T-—F=-A=+—HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 21
—E-C& =
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat BT BT
Continuing operations BFEREER
Revenue Yz 7 256,890,302 56,158,591
Other gains or losses, net Hin sk EiE - 55 8 (19,862,292) (28,200,226)
Cost of completed properties sold B HEBRTRMEZBA (132,690,334) =
Depreciation on property, plant and ¥ - BERREHEZITE
equipment (2,802,375) (2,275,998)
Staff costs BTKA 11 (10,632,652) (15,079,230)
Other operating expenses HAi a2 5% 13 (29,283,337) (37,019,065)
Finance costs REKA 14 (36,848,887) (19,442,477
Profit/(loss) before income tax BATE RS, (&E) 9 24,770,425 (45,858,405)
Income tax expense FTiSRiFX 15 (9,092,219) (1,159,720
Profit/(loss) for the year from REBECEEL Y
continuing operations REFRR/(FE) 15,678,206 (47,018,125)
Discontinued operations BRIEREER
Loss for the year from discontinued HREBRK FELEK Y
operations REEEHE 10 - (612,495)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF,(EBE) 15,678,206 (47,630,620)
Other comprehensive Hit2mEkiE (EE)
income/(loss)
Item that may be reclassified HETRERIEZEE
subsequently to profit or loss ZHEE
Exchange differences arising on BEGINEBREEZIER
translating foreign operations =5 22,583,243 51,156,609
Reclassification of foreign exchange HEM B AT INEHE 2
reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries E¥ D8 (1,942) 2,432,762
Other comprehensive income FEEHMEERE
for the year, net of tax (B NBr%iE) 22,581,301 53,589,371
Total comprehensive income TEEXHRRARE
for the year 38,259,507 5,958,751

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 21
—E-C& —EE = —kE
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat B BT
Profit/(loss) for the year PG AREERR, (BE) :
attributable to: N
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETEZ SN
— Continuing operations — BEREER 8,021,068 (12,734,990)
— Discontinued operations — BRI EER - (612,495)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable ~ ZRABIHEA AEEAEE
to owners of the Company BH(E8) 8,021,068 (13,347,485)
Non-controlling interests FEE i e
— Continuing operations — RBELEER 7,657,138 (34,283,135)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEREER - .
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable — JEIRRRIEREEAEE
to non-controlling interests wA/ (E) 7,657,138 (34,283,135)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEEHEF/(BE) 15,678,206 (47,630,620)
Total comprehensive income BEAFEZERZEE !
for the year attributable to: B
Owners of the Company KRRHEBA
— Continuing operations — FHEREER 21,507,533 8,701,393
— Discontinued operations — BRIEEEER - (612,495)
Total comprehensive income for the ARAFEA AEEREE
year attributable to the owners of FEWEBE
the Company 21,507,533 8,088,898
Non-controlling interests FEE R
— Continuing operations — BELEER 16,751,974 (2,130,147)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEEEER - .
Total comprehensive income R E R EEAREE
for the year attributable to non- ZHEHNRETE
controlling interests 16,751,974 (2,130,147)
Total comprehensive income REEE2EWEERE
for the year 38,259,507 5,958,751
Earnings/(loss) per share from REFESERSAL
continuing and discontinued REEBIBR
operations 27,/ (&8) 17
Basic (HK cents) ZRGEN) 0.35 (0.67)
Diluted (HK cents) EEOF)) NA R A NA 713 F
Earnings/(loss) per share from REABESEEL S
continuing operations SREA(FHR) 17
Basic (HK cents) EARCGEN) 0.35 (0.64)
Diluted (HK cents) B0 N) NA & A NA R EH

)
th
e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE=—=—#=A=+—H
As at 31 March 2022

2022 2021
ot S —E-—F
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiq BT BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥1% - &= &R B 18 5,382,044 7,913,992
Investment properties WEME 19 279,651,299 284,436,451
Goodwill EES 20 = -
Intangible assets mpEE 21 = —
Finance lease receivables R R EHE KA 22 266,635,423 275,396,189
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 551,668,766 567,746,632
Current assets REBEE
Completed properties held BEFEETKYE
for sale 23 837,029,266 —
Properties under development ZEH % 24 - 770,392,961
Trade and other receivables FEUE R A 5B 25 297,927,334 337,632,775
Contract costs B HIBAR 29 13,665,085 3,948,423
Finance lease receivables FEU A& T & RUIR 22 48,876,419 26,161,513
Amount due from a director B — 2 EEFIA 26 77.800 77,800
Amounts due from non- FEUSHT B N &) 2 FEFERR AR R
controlling shareholders of IR
subsidiaries 26 — 5,217,644
Amounts due from related FEUL #EE A L FUIE
parties 26 1,916 2,366
Prepaid tax TEfSHIIR 16,216,960 9,558,949
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHER 27 192,855,112 175,939,276
Total current assets mEBEERE 1,406,649,892 1,328,931,707
Total assets EEHE 1,958,318,658 1,896,678,339

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R-E_—_F#=A=+—H

As at 31 March 2022

2022 2021
ot S B —%F
Notes HK$ HK$
it BT BT
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables FERE R R E M FRIE 28 102,715,169 27,528,453
Contract liabilities BHEaE 29 579,969,382 434,758,001
Amounts due to non- JEASTB /B A B) 2 FEIE AR AR 3R
controlling shareholders of I8
subsidiaries 26 35,817,817 32,737,288
Bank borrowings RITEE 30 99,234,953 289,531,436
Convertible bonds Al E S 31 = =
Lease liabilities HEBE 34 57,328,788 51,532,095
Current tax liabilities RITHRIEEE 333,034 85,706
Total current liabilities mENB BB 875,399,143 836,172,979
Net current assets RBEEFE 531,250,749 492,758,728
Total assets less current EEHAERARBER
liabilities 1,082,919,515 1,060,505,360
Non-current liabilities FnBERS
Lease liabilities HEBE 34 482,547,260 498,392,612
Total non-current liabilities EmEBERTE 482,547,260 498,392,612
Total liabilities BEHAE 1,357,946,403 1,334,565,591
NET ASSETS EEFE 600,372,255 562,112,748
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE=—=—#=A=+—H
As at 31 March 2022

2022 2021
ot S —E-—F
Notes HK$ HK$
i3 BT BT
Capital and reserves EAREEAEMLZ
attributable to owners of & R 4
the Company
Share capital &N 35 115,443,328 115,443,328
Reserves & 271,014,525 249,506,992
386,457,853 364,950,320
Non-controlling interests JEIERR R 39 213,914,402 197,162,428
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 600,372,255 562,112,748

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to
232 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
on 29 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chen Weiwu
FRZE

Chairman
FE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED H E BEREBERAR

HNETSE2NENHEAMBERERRN_-F
TCFERAZTABEE=SHENRET
B oUWHTIATIRREZTEERSE -

Jiang Ruowenhao
IEXER
Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BE-Z-_—_HF=A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Equity
Employee attributable
share-based  Convertible Foreign to owners Non-
Share Share Other  Contributed compensation bonds exchange Accumulated of the  controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Company interests equity
DU ESPAN L FRAREA
R& RHEE Rk BB EEEMER 1] HERRE 28R EftRs  #ERER BEEE
note 36) note 36)
(Wit 36) (Wit 36)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
- AT AT AT V- AT AT AT V23 V-7 V-7
At 1 April 2020 RZZZFMA-A 53888928 2162373288  (99,144,717) 28784000 7292983 12026789  (3,756,479) (2,060,890,732) 100,574,060 28,187,474 128,761,534
Loss for the year REERE - - - - - - — 13347485  (13,347,485)  (34,283,135)  (47,630,620)
Exchange differences arising on ZENERELZES
translating foreign operations £ - - - - - — 19,003,621 — 19003621 32,152,988 51,156,609
Reclassification of foreign
exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries
{note 36) = S o o o S 2,432,762 S 2,432,762 — 2,432,762
Total comprehensive income 2 ENEHEE - - - - - — 21436383 (13347485) 8088898 (2130147 5,958,751
Shares issued upon conversion TR EREETRA
of convertible bonds (Hitsr)
note 31) 21554400 75,370,828 - - — (12,026,789 - — 84898439 — 84898439
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAT
(note 32) Wits32) 40,000,000 131,388,923 - - - - — — 171388923 386,614,863 558,003,786
Release of non-controlling LENBAARER
interests upon disposal of Bigs
subsidiaries (note 38) = = = = = = = = — N30 2,717,3%)
Capital reduction to non-
controlling shareholders of a
subsidiary (note 39(b)) - - - - - - - - —  (12792372) (212,792,372)
At 31 March 2021 RIE--FZAZF-H 115443328 2,369,133,039  (99,144717) 28,784,000 7,292,983 — 17,679,904 (2,074,238217) 364,950,320 197,162,428 562,112,748
At 1 April 2021 115,443,328 2,369,133,039 (99,144,717 28,784,000 7,292,983 - 17679904 (2,074,238217) 364,950,320 197,162,428 562,112,748
Profit for the year RERER - = - - - - - 8,021,068 8021068 7,657,138 15,678,206
Exchange differences arising on BEENERELZES
translating foreign operations &% - - - - - - 13,488,407 - 13488407 9,094,836 22,583,243
Reclassification of foreign HENBLRRINESEL
exchange reserve upon BRI %8)
disposal of subsidiaries
note 38) - - - - - - (1,942) - (1,942) - (1,942)
Total comprehensive income  2EEHEE - - - - - - 13486465 8,021,068 21507533 16,751,974 38,259,507
At 31 March 2022 RTTTOEZAS-E 15M3328 2364133030 (99.044717) 28784000 7,292,983 - S1166369 (2066217,149) 386457853 213914402 600372255
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 T FER

83



84

RMERERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BHE-Z-_—_F=R=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
=RB== T —%F
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
Cash flows from operating REXBRBZ
activities HERE
Net cash generated from/ KEEBEEL/ (FTRA)Z
(used in) operations REFHE 41(a) 369,638,800 (21,267,402)
Interest received B UFE 468,117 340,333
Tax paid B (15,005,406) (10,248,921)
Net cash generated from/ BEEREL (A2
(used in) operating REeFE
activities 355,101,511 (31,175,990)
Cash flows from investing RETHFEBZRERE
activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary, Ui B — BT B A B
net of cash acquired (BEHIBRATEZEE) 32 = (14,244,313)
Disposal of subsidiaries, net HEHB AR (2R
of cash disposed FIbECRE) 38 (18,193) (1,702,727)
Decrease/(increase) in JRE W B B X B 2 FEHE AR
amounts due from non- MR FRIER A (35 0)
controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries 5,348,639 (5,051,631)
Increase/(decrease) in FERTBI B R B 2 IR
amounts due to non- MR ERFRIEIE A, CR )
controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries 1,673,425 (26,016,723)
Capital reduction of a —RfBARZEAR
subsidiary ElNES - (181,096,704)
Decrease in amounts due fENEEE AT
from related parties SRIER 550 2,828,977
Proceeds from disposal HEWSE - KEREH
of property, plant and Z TS RIR
equipment - 87,291
Purchases of property, plant EEME - WENEE
and equipment 18 (236,996) (6,856,481)
Additions to investment Yk e=7ES
properties - (4,4583,422)
Net cash generated from/ REFBHELE(FFA)Z
(used in) investing REeFE
activities 6,767,425 (236,505,733)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BHE_T-_—_F=A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
—E_-— =R =
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt B BT
Cash flows from financing RMEEZEBBzHERE
activities
Increase in bank borrowings RITIEEE N 26,783,333 380,579,437
Repayment of bank EERITEE
borrowings (225,970,163) (151,763,797)
Interest paid BRFLE (51,055,800) (30,145,215)
Repayment of principal EEHEEBEZRSEHY
portion of the lease
liabilities (30,652,135) (23,876,417)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEEE (FTH) ELXZHE
from financing activities SFE 41(b) (280,894,765) 174,794,008
Increase/(decrease) in cash ReRHELEHEER
and cash equivalents #hn, G 80,974,171 (92,887,715)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFEHIz2RERBLEE
beginning of year EHE 61,590,019 150,430,813
Effect of exchange rate EXRESEHERS RIS EHA
changes on cash and HE &2
cash equivalents 2,191,346 4,046,921
Cash and cash equivalents at RFERZEHERBEEEE
end of year EH 27 144,755,536 61,590,019
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability and its issued shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The directors consider the
Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company
to be Grand Nice International Limited (“Grand Nice"),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI"). The directors also consider the Company’s
ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Chen Weiwu who
is the sole shareholder of Grand Nice and is also a
director of the Company.

The Company’'s registered office is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda and the Company's principal place
of business is at Unit 1201, 12th Floor, 29 Austin
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.

The Company is engaged in investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the “Group”.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group had completed the disposal of a group of
subsidiaries, details of which are set out in note 10,
and the exhibition-related business and the food and
beverage business were classified as discontinued
operations following the completion of the disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of amended HKFRSs - effective 1
April 2021

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") has issued a number
of amended HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Reform - Phase 2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
HKFRS 16

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021

None of these amended HKFRSs has a
significant impact on the Group's results
and financial position for the current or prior
period.

Other than the above, the Group has not early
adopted any amended HKFRSs that are not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

2.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

BRANFE] RAETT 2 BB R 35
HFEA(EBMHEREE
A1)
(a) RMEETEBHBREE —
R-B=-FmA—-BEN

BAGMAS((ERETED
BERME TEERTBEVER
FEA(ERAEB A S HRE
BRER) :

EAMBREEAEIN - MEEEYE —
£

BBEERE0 ek
BEMBREEAE TSR -
BENBREENELRR
BAYBREENE 165
CHES)
EANBREENE 6% —T-NAERRES
CHES) RERLEH
EANBRELNE 6% —T-—EXFA
CHES) Zt+A%-F
—NEHREMR
BHEER

ZERETERYBREEAE A
BRI K St B IR A A M
MBRRL BBEATE -

R Eattoh - AEELREFRAR
S ET AR i R A R AT B ET
FREMBHRE LR -
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mE P BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_—_F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following amended HKFRSs, potentially

relevant to the Group's consolidated financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by

the Group.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the Related
Amendments'

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

Property, Plant and Equipment;
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract’

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
2018-2020"

Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual period beginning on or

after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual period beginning on or

after a date to be determined

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) i 12 %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRHETSRET 2EBUE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING LER(EEMBHREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all) )

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) THEMENEREBZFTREIERT
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
Except for the amendments to HKFRSs BRIATR il 2 £ ET B A B E
mentioned below, the directors of the LRISIN - RAREETEH - AFE
Company anticipate that the application of FEARB M REIERT MARERZ
all the new and amendments to HKFRSs not BT IEMELED G2 RA] g
yet effective for the current year will have no REFE B MRBRERTE -

material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of BEEBEERE1H(IETEX) —
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK EESEAERBRHRERE B
Interpretation 5 (2020) BE59 (2020 F)

The amendments provide clarification and e IR N L RN = E = =R
additional guidance on the assessment of DA R 2 B AT R MR
right to defer settlement for at least twelve B REEIMES NERESBEAR
months from reporting date for classification Bk IERE) - BB

of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities e FIPAEBERERREHREHRT
as current or non-current should be based BZENMDBAREKIER
on rights that are in existence at the end B) o ZEIBETARRIEE ¢

of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be i) ZOYBAXEEE®R
affected by management intentions TZEARNGERES
or expectations to settle the liability EEREHTE &

within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the (i) W& R A 8 <7 2258
compliance with covenants, the R - RIBMEERA
right exists if the conditions are met EREABRSARHES
at the end of the reporting period, FFEEME - ZIEFER
even if the lender does not test HHRFEEHEZBER
compliance until a later date; and THATFE : &

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZE - £ 4%

89



90

fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

o clarify that if a liability has terms that
could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’'s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognizes the option
separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5

was revised as a consequence of then

Amendments to HKAS 1

corresponding wordings with no change in

to align the

conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities
as at 31 March 2022, the application of the
amendments will not result in a reclassification
of the Group's liabilities.
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRMFTSREITZBERBUH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING LER(EEMBHREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all) )

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) THEMENEREBZFTREIERT
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice EEETEREI1HEREBHER
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting EEAEHKFEF2H 15T —
Policies B BRI E
HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances EBGIERE 1R FERT - KA
of the term “significant accounting policies” [EASHHRER IBRFEIE
with “material accounting policy information”. SEHRE | —fF o HWEERE S
Accounting policy information is material WRFTE 2 At ER — 0 E &R
if, when considered together with other AAEEHey E—RBARMGR
information included in an entity's financial RZEEFAEERNZSTFHRE
statements, it can reasonably be expected to ERZATE - Alest R ENBE
influence decisions that the primary users of Ko

general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting ZEEE]NEE - ARNEBERS 2
policy information may be material because of ME - EMEESIER - BMESE
the nature of the related transactions, other WAEK @ SETBERE RNl LR
events or conditions, even if the amounts are BAR AT - WIMBEBEKRR
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy 2 Bt ENRIBRZSHBERE
information relating to material transactions, BREAFHBEKX - MNEBEEHRE
other events or conditions is itself material. NERZEFBERER - BBE@AE
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial BT ERMERGHBERER -

accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy

information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making EAVKEREENEBREE 25
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice EHERHEB(EBR/RED AT
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how LAMERT » LAGEA & 88 2 fal 51 70 &
an entity applies the “four-step materiality FPRBEBREF IBAR TR
process” to accounting policy disclosures BERABEBESHBR 2ERRE
and to judge whether information about an BEEBRRBENRN - 1831 LA
accounting policy is material to its financial FEMAEZ®RE -

statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (Continued)

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the
Group's significant accounting policies. The
impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed
in the Group's future consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates
as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in
financial statements to be measured in a way
that involves measurement uncertainty — that
is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts
that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy.
Developing accounting estimates involves the
use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in
accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BEMHFEIBRET 2 EBME
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER(BERBUBREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued) all) )

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been B EME N RERZFET REIEET
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax EBETERFI2HEZIET —
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from HEBRX GELWEENE EEHE
a Single Transaction B EAE B E

The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities
and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and
24 of HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to relevant assets and liabilities are
assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the
Group will recognise a deferred tax asset (to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with
the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023, with early application permitted.
The Group is still in the process of assessing
the full impact of the application of the
amendments.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("“HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “HKFRS") issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules"”) on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost basis,
except for the investment properties which are
measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

In prior years, the Company's functional
currency was Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"). The
Company is an investment holding company.
Due to the continuing expansion of the
Group's business operations in Mainland
China (“PRC") which are transacted mainly
in Renminbi ("RMB"),
determined that the functional currency of
the Company changed from HK$ to RMB
on the prospective basis from 1 April 2021.

the directors have

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$ as the directors are of
the view that the HK$ is the appropriate
presentation currency for the users of the
Group’s financial statements given that the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when the
acquired set of activities and assets meets
the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and
assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input
and substantive processes and whether the
acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing
equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (@ maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Company.
Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control of the subsidiary are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

s s B =[5
31 March 2022
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting
a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets
and liabilities that do not constitute a
business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to the financial assets
and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other individual
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give
rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (i) power
over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

When the Group has less than a majority of
the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Group's voting rights in an investee
are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held y the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being
the excess of the aggregate of a consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregated of fair value
of consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment, as gain
on bargain purchase.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually by comparing
its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 4(q)), and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase
(Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated
to each asset will not reduce the individual
assets carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold Over the shorter of

improvements the lease term

and its useful life

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

Right-of-use assets Over lease terms of

2-3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Intangible assets

(i)

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line
basis over their useful lives as follows:

Golf club memberships 12 years

Customer relationship and 10 years
customer contracts

Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are
tested for impairment when there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired
(see note 4(qg). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that
they may be impaired. Intangible assets
are tested for impairment by comparing
their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(q)). If
the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Investment properties

Investment properties are property held either
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the
production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment
properties also include leased properties which
are being recognised as right-of-use assets
and subleased by the Group under operating
leases. Investment properties are measured at
cost on initial recognition and subsequently at
fair value with any change therein recognised
in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as a leasee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating
leases or finance leases) are required to
be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Lease (Continued)
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets
the definition of an investment property,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. For right-
of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, they are carried at fair
value.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and
buildings that are held for rental or capital
appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and are
carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease
payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise
price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
(v) payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date,
the Group measures the lease liability by:
(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, or to reflect revised
in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the
term of any lease (because, for example, it re-
assesses the probability of a lessee extension
or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease
liability to reflect the payments to make over
the revised term, which are discounted using
a revised discount rate. The carrying value of
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the
variable element of future lease payments
dependent on a rate or index is revised,
except the discount rate remains unchanged.
In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right-of-use
asset, with the revised carrying amount being
amortised over the remaining (revised) lease
term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual
terms of a lease with the lessor, if the
renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price
for the additional rights-of-use obtained,
the modification is accounted for as a
separate lease, in all other cases, where
the renegotiated increases the scope of the
lease (whether that is an extension to the
lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured
using the discount rate applicable on the
modification date, with the right-of-use asset
being adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate leases. The sub-lease
is classified as a finance or operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

4., FEESTTHE®)

(h)

HE#E)
HESRE(#E)

BAEESELHEAREE S HEK
EXERE - WEHNIEHER—E
A LBINEERTE  HeHEE
PG BIMEREEE 2 EBE
RIAE - RAAAEMBERT - &iE
BIERBEBEEAR - (MEHER
BAHEHRE(TwmEREEHN
Em—ESA LHEEE) - AlfE
RETRMERZMRETHAER
BETENE  RSHEREER
EETHRSEAE -

EEBERLHBEA

HEERAGEEEEMAREXN
BB R & mEE EAEA - A
HESHEARERE - AAHEME

BRIDERELEHE -

EAREERTNLEEA  AEEE
B EBO RS HOARSRIBEEL
HE - nHEAOD2RIBOMESL
ZEREEENBAREXKEH
g - REHEHESWAREREN
BRAEBAREBERPER - BB X
R ERERMEL 2 VIAE &
RAK IR HEEE 2 REE - X
BERENEARAER R

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 = FE R

109



110

fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’'s net
investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration
for a lease that was not part of the original
terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The
Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, recognising
the remaining lease payments as income
on a either a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the remaining lease
term. The Group applies the derecognition
requirements of HKFRS 9 to recognise
modification or derecognition gain or loss on
the net investment in the finance lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirely
when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies
its debt instruments:
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e B IS R R M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_—_F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"):
Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may
be designated at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition if doing so
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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e B IS R R M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_—_F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity
investment that is not held for trading,
the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in
the investment's fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are
measured at fair value. Dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss unless
the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in
fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances
for expected credit loss (“ECL"”) on trade
receivables, contract assets, financial
assets measured at amortised cost and
debt investments measured at FVOCI.
The ECLs are measured on either of the
(1) 12 months ECLs:
these are the ECLs that result from

following bases:

possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the

assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure
loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that
is based on the Group’'s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For finance lease receivables and other
debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECLs.

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group’'s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to
be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the
financial asset is more than 90 days past
due.

Interest income on credit-impaired
financial assets is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income
is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial
liabilities, depending on the purpose
for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss.
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e B IS R R M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_—_F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in
profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid
contract may be designated as a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the
embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss if the following
criteria are met: (i) the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the
liabilities or recognising gains or losses
on them on a different basis; (ii) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial
liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be
separately recorded.
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESTHE#)
(Continued)
(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued) (i) BMEEIAE)

(i) BIBEEE)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for the gains and losses arising
from the Group’'s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification
to profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income
does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
including trade and other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, amounts due to related parties,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation
process.
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e B IS R R M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_—_F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv) Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the
Group that contain both the liability
and conversion option components
are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity
instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using
the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference
between the proceeds of the issue of
the convertible bonds and the fair value
assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the bonds into
equity, is included in equity (convertible
loan notes equity reserve).
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESTHE#)
(Continued)
(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued) (i) BMEEIAE)
(iv) Convertible bonds (Continued) (iv) TERRESE)

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option
to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds reserve
until the embedded option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated
in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share
premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry dates,
the balance stated in convertible
bonds reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the
proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESTHE#)
(Continued)
(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued) (i) BMEEIAE)

(vii) BB

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a
financial liability in whole or in part as
a result of renegotiating the terms of
that liability, the equity instruments
issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability
or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued
cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect
the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit
or loss for the year.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
(viii) Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset
is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets
or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Inventories, properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost,
and subsequently at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using the first-
in first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A

4.

FESHHRE®)

(i)

(i)

MK TR(E)

(viii) #5518 R
HBBER LA IE K
I8 - AEE A2 (305 sk
2E)MBEE  BRBEER
BHENEEZBRREE -
ZIERBELHREASEE®
EEBAZEEESHAR
BAEARHAR G RERE
BIEME 2 &5 - BER U E
ST MEE 2 B E R U el B R
FEERZANERERERE -

FE -  BRIPUERSEFERT
LUES

&

TFEIRRAATER - HERRRA
HEREHRFEME 2 BEEER -
RABEMEBEXRAN R BFE
RE BRI E RARTES 2 Bt
PR o BAASEHE S HIERE © 7]
BRFEINAEXBHREAR 2
AHEENBRETHERB 2GR

GEE &



e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Inventories, properties under development
and completed properties held for sale
(Continued)

Properties under development for sale

The cost of properties under development
for sale comprises specifically identified
cost, including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, materials and
supplies, wages and other direct expenses,
an appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised. The carrying
values of the properties held by subsidiaries
are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group's actual
costs, where appropriate. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

In accordance with HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs,
the borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

(k)

Inventories, properties under development
and completed properties held for sale
(Continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs of completed properties include
acquisition costs, development expenditure,
other direct costs and borrowing costs
capitalised attributable to such properties.
The carrying values of properties held by
subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated
financial statements to reflect the Group's
actual acquisition costs, where appropriate.

Net realisable value is determined by
reference to expected selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services
is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or

service.

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at

contract inception.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

4, FEESTTHE®)

(k)

W 5 FERR (AF)

BB NRFIBRARZE R
FME - & anskBRH A% i #E A BE
EREEN —ARHER - £AK
BULATEOTAT  BEmdRB
2HIETIBEEREER

o RUEAFEFPREUERNER
ZFIB IR

s BEAKEZEQTRMA
ERREABEPEFNEE
=

o U TREHAKEAEBEM
RBENEE  URAEEE
EAMBEZERC TR ZE
#ITT A ULES 3R 2 7] 58 I
TTHER -

i & am Sk BR# 2 42 Il RE B 2 B R 8
% BllER AR AERRT W
MEZBREEZEREMER - &
8] - AN BT FPREGEmERGE
2 B B RERR -

EAHNBEIRERND  HATFPE
REMEIRG A EPREEE—
FREZEAMGEE - WaaiZ B
FRZREFE  EEAREGHE
RN ARE LR S 2 H 51T
RINZBER SR REIRRRER -

3
A
[Y

\

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 = FE R

127



128

fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from sale of goods

Customers obtain control of the products
when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus
recognised upon when the customers
accepted the products. There is generally
only one performance obligation. Invoices
are usually payable within 30 days.

Exhibition and related services

The Group provides service in the design,
planning, coordination and management
of the exhibitions and events. Revenue
from providing services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered. In the contract
with the customer, a series of distinct
exhibitions and event related services
has the same pattern of transferring the
control of the services to the customer.
Therefore, series guidance is applied
and the Group accounts for a series of
distinct exhibitions and event related
services as one performance obligation.
Revenue is recognised over the period
of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation with the
input method, under which, revenue
is recognised on the basis of the
Group’s inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction
of that performance obligation.
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESTHE#)
(Continued)
(k) Revenue recognition (Continued) (k) WEmERE)

(iii) FEZETYRE

(iii) Completed properties for sale

Revenue arising from the sale of
completed properties for sale in the
ordinary course of business is recognised
when legal assignment is completed,
which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use
of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the

property.

Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of
revenue recognition are included in
the consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities. When
the advance payments are regarded as
providing a significant financing benefit to
the Group, interest expense arising from
the adjustment of time value of money
will be accrued by the Group during the
period between the payment date and
the completion date of legal assignment.
This accrual increases the balance of
the contract liability during the period
of construction, and therefore increases
the amount of revenue recognised when
control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer. The interest
is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23
(see note 4(t)).
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e B IS R R M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_—_F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv) Other revenue and income

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A

Rental income under operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease in
accordance with HKFRS 16.

Finance lease interest income is accrued
on a timely basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the date
exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the repayment
schedule of the finance lease receivable to
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
The finance lease interest income is
recognised in accordance to HKFRS 16.

Dividend income is recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is
established.

Interest income from a financial asset is
accrued on a timely basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and
calculated at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition. The interest
income is recognised in accordance to
HKFRS 9.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's
right to consideration in exchange for
services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional.
In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’'s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the
Group's obligation to transfer services
to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a
customer or the costs to fulfil a contract
with a customer which are not capitalised
as inventories, property and plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs
to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.g.
an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period
and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

e B HRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is
abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented
on the face of the statement of profit or loss,
which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of
the discontinued operation and post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair
value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of
the assets or disposal group constituting the
discontinued operation.
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e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current
tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount
of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income taxes (Continued)

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties
at their carrying amounts at the reporting
date. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income taxes (Continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The
provision for LAT is based on management'’s
best estimates according to the understanding
of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT
liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon the completion
of the property development projects. The
Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with the tax authorities for
some of its property development projects.
The final outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences may have an impact on the
LAT expenses and the related provision in the
period in which the difference realises.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
at the average exchange rates for the vyear,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating, to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in the profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to the profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the
foreign exchange reserve.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The expected costs of profit-sharing and
bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for profit-sharing and bonus
plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they
are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., FEESTTHE®)
(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EETHNGE)

(iv) BEBEEWEF

(iv) Post-employment benefits

Retirement benefits to employees
are provided through several defined
contribution plans.

The Group adopts a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the "MPF Scheme")
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong for all
employees of its subsidiaries operating in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries but subject to a cap in accordance
with the statutory requirement and
are recognised in profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group has recorded provisions for
long service payments for employees
who had completed the required number
of years of service under Hong Kong's
Employment Ordinance for whom
the Group is obligated to pay long
service payment on termination of their
employment.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
that operate in the PRC are required to
participate in a government-managed
retirement benefit schemes. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute
a fixed cost per employee to the
government-managed retirement benefit
schemes. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable.

There were no forfeited contributions
utilised by the Group to reduce existing
level of contribution for each of the years.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees, the fair value of the options at the
date of grant is recognised in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity
instruments expected to vest at the end of
each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair
value of the options granted. As long as
all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a
charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure
to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options
are modified before they vest, the increase
in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification,
is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to
persons other than employees, the profit or
loss is charged with the fair value of goods
or services received unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets. A
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.
For cash settled share based payments, a
liability is recognised at the fair value of the
goods or services received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment; and
° interests in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flow expected to be derived from
the asset or cash-generating unit (see note
4(d)) discounted to their present value using
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash-generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probably
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties

(a)

A person or a close member of that

person’s family is related to the Group if

that person:

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control of the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions apply:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the
parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that

person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or

domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that

person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which require a substantial
period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted
from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised as deferred income in
consolidated statement of financial position
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Financial Guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at
FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECL provision measured in accordance
with principles of the the accounting policy
set out in 4(i)(ii); and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates are evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The key assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(a)

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment and
will revise depreciation charges when useful
lives differ from previous estimates.

Impairment loss on financial assets at
amortised cost

Significant judgements is required in applying
the accounting requirements by the Group's
management for measuring the loss allowances
of financial assets at amortised cost.

The Group’s management use its judgement
in making such measurements including the
credit history, existing market conditions,
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information,
and market value of collaterals if applicable.
In order to determine the most appropriate
models in estimating the loss allowances for
each type of financial assets at amortised cost,
significant judgement is required to relate
appropriate key drivers of credit risk as well as
future movement of different economic drivers
and how these drivers will affect each other.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will affect
the carrying amount of financial assets at
amortised cost and thus the loss allowance in
the period in which such estimate is changed.

34
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of completed properties held
for sale

Management assessed the impairment of
the properties held for sale based on an
estimation of the net realisable value of the
underlying properties which involves, inter-
alia, considerable analysis of current market
price of properties of a comparable standard
and location. If the actual net realisable value
of the underlying properties are less than
expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in
the budgeted development costs, material
provision for impairment losses may result.

No impairment loss for the completed
properties held for sale was recognised in the
profit or loss of the Group in respect of the
current year.

Incremental borrowing rate

The Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are
available or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements
require measurement at, and/or disclosure of,
fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities
utilises market observable inputs and data as
far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the
inputs used in the valuation technique utilised
are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

° Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets
for identical items (unadjusted);

° Level 2: Observable direct or indirect
inputs other than Level 1 inputs;

° Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not
derived from market data).

The classification of an item into the above
levels is based on the lowest level of the
inputs used that has a significant effect on the
fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the
period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties
(note 19) at fair value.

For more detailed information in relation to the
fair value measurement of the items above,
please refer to the applicable notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H

31 March 2022

SEGMENT REPORTING

Management determines operating segments based
on the reports regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), which is
the board of directors (the “Board”), in assessing
performance and allocating resources. The CODM
considers the business primarily on the basis of
the types of services supplied by the Group. Upon
completion of disposal of the entire interests of a
number of subsidiaries during the year ended 31
March 2021, the management considers that the
key operating divisions of the Group are property
sub-leasing and investment business, property
development business and money lending business.

The Group had the following reportable operating
segments during the year:

Continuing operations:

Property sub-leasing — sub-leasing and leasing of
and investment investment properties
business

Property — development of real estates
development
business

Money lending — provision of loans to customers,

business including individuals and
corporations under the
provisions of Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong

Kong

Discontinued operations:

Exhibition-related — organising all kinds of exhibition
business events and meeting events
Food and — sale of food and beverages and

beverages restaurant operations
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Segment information is presented below:

(a) Information about reportable segment (a)
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

and other information

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

6. D¥EBEE
SEER2FIMT

EERUHRED EWE  ERRE
B EERABZENRAMESR

2022
k- St 3
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
i B BAILEEEE
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Exhibition-
investment  development lending related Food and
business business business Subtotal business beverages Total
NESER NEER . RE
REEH £ HiEEH Nt EBEER £ 1
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
-2 -7 V-3 73 Ar -3 Ar
Reportable segment revenue TREAEYE
External revenue Sl 80,198,009 176,692,293 - 256,890,302 - - 256,890,302
Inter-segment revenue AERkE - - - - - - -
80,198,009 176,692,293 - 256,890,302 - - 256,890,302
Reportable segment profit/(loss) before ~ BEERATHESE
income tax A/ (58 15,319,479 20,548,327 (193,888) 35,733,918 - - 35,733,918
Other segment information EAEEN
Interest income L ON 17,506 434,668 191 454,151 - - 454,151
Interest expenses HERx 34,675,900 2,141,259 - 36,823,219 - - 36,823,219
Depreciation of property, plant and % BRREEIAE
equipment - 1,923,668 - 1,923,668 - - 1,923,668
Fair value loss of investment properties RENEILTEERR 11,546,666 - - 11,546,666 - - 11,546,666
Gain on disposal of property, LENE  BERKE NG
plant and equipment - - - - - - -
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRREE NG 1,845,024 - - 1,845,024 - - 1,845,024
Loss on termination of lease contracts RiEEERNZER 4,764,634 - - 4,764,634 - - 4,764,634
Loss on transfer of investment properties ~ BHRENEZEE 2,921,880 - - 2,921,880 - - 2,927,880
Loss on modification of subleases in respect BEEURAREREL AL
of finance lease receivables ke 6,205,268 - - 6,205,268 - - 6,205,268
Impairment loss for finance lease EhBARENE RERE
receivables - - - - - - -
(Reversal of}/provision for impairment loss on &3 Rk £t 3E 2 HEEE
trade and other receivables, net (BmE)/BETE - - - - - - -
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z - _—F %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

6. DEHmEH)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBEUHREIEWRE  BHHES
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EERAEBEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2022
it St 3
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
b B eSS BRLEEEE
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Exhibition-
investment  development lending related Food and
business business business Subtotal business beverages Total
NEAER NEER &
REEH 5 HiEEH Nt BBER £ 8%
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS$
V-3 -7 V-2 73 -3 73 Ar
Reportable segment assets IRENRAE 665,707,000  1,261,791,697 533,733 1,928,032430 - - 1,928,032,430
Additions to reportable segment FEURENEERDEE
non-current assets 17,854,449 236,996 - 18,091,445 - - 18,091,445
Reportable segment liabilities IRENREE 600,912,588 751,724,687 3546 1,352,640,821 - —-1,352,640,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEATHEDEWR - BEHHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EERAEBEZERNRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2021
“E--f
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
BEEERT BRIHBERH
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Exhibition-
investment development lending related Food and
business business business Subtotal business beverages Total
NEHER NELE &g
RELH 5% HEEH i) JECE £ 28
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT AT AT V-7 AT AT
Reportable segment revenue UREAENE
External revenue e 56,158,591 - - 56,158,591 529,219 - 56,687,870
Inter-segment revenue AERkE - - - - - - -
56,158,591 - — 56,158,591 529,279 - 56,687,870

Reportable segment (loss)/profit before ~ BAERATHELE

income tax (B8) /%0 (330,609) (11,018,074) (239,344) (11,588,027) (715,663) 103,168 (12,200,522)
Other segment information EHAEEH
Interest income FEHA 13,540 271,309 13,366 298,215 627 — 298,842
Interest expenses HERX 17,377,607 - - 17,377,607 21437 - 17,399,044
Depreciation of property, plant and % BEREEIAE

equipment 475,940 1,060,729 — 1,536,669 1,239 — 1,537,908
Fair value loss of investment properties hENEZATEEER 55,993,773 = = 55,993,773 = = 55,993,773
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—f=A=+—8H

31 March 2022

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEEUTHRESEKRRE  HBHNIE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EERAEBEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2021
it a3
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
BEEERH BRIHBERH
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Exhibition-
investment development lending related Food and
business business business Subtotal business beverages Total
NEHER NEER &g
RELH 5% HEEH i) JECE £ 28
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT AT AT V-7 AT AT

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 1EN%  BERRE MR

equipment — - — — 85,704 — 85,704
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE NG 27,781,563 = = 27,781,563 = = 27,781,563
Gain on termination of lease contracts AR R 7,495,080 - - 7,495,080 - - 7,495,080

Loss on transfer of investment properties ~ EBFEANE 7 Eig - - - S S S S

Loss on modification of subleases in respect  BEEMBERENEZBEAE

of finance lease receivables BOEHE - - - - - - -
Impairment loss for finance lease EUBERESEZAEEE
receivables 806,497 - - 806,497 - — 806,497

(Reversal of)fprovision for impairment loss on &3 REMFE L HESE

trade and other receivables, net (Bm)/BE5E (161,051) 768 = (160,283) 874,828 = 714,545
Reportable segment assets TFENREE 615539804 1,211,004,569 12,532,456 1,839,076,919 = — 1839076919
Additions to reportable segment REUREAEHTDEE

fon-Curtent assets 494,063,338 6,718,444 — 500,781,782 1,800 — 500,783,582
Reportable segment liabilties TRENERME 567,067,018 763,744,962 3506 1331715526 = — 1331716526
Note: During the second half of the year ended 31 Hiad RBE-_ZE-—F=A=+—8

March 2021, the Group ceased the exhibition- FEBZT¥E REBDKIE
related business and food and beverage EEHEEERERERS -
business.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

6. DEBRE®)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b)

or loss, assets and liabilities

Profit/(loss) before income tax

THEDRERNRER - EERE
Bz HER

B A e B AT R (58 )

2022 2021
—EC-CE —T-—fF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Reportable segment profit/(loss) before KRERBELEELT 2 RETEEA
income tax from continuing operations ARESEEF,(BE) 35,733,918 (11,588,027
Unallocated gain on disposal of FARHEWB LR 2K
subsidiaries 5,407 7,801,713
Unallocated impairment loss on other AOEEMBERTIEL
receivables AEBE - (1,890,542
Unallocated interest income and other RO WA BWAREMIA
income 2,373,909 1,800,507
Unallocated provisions for financial AN B B EREE
guarantee - (22,880,660)
Unallocated amortisation of intangible AOBEEFEE 2 BH
assets - (97,403)
Unallocated staff costs APEEE IR (6,279,204) (5,766,845)
Unallocated finance costs AN BRERA (25,668) (2,064,870)
Unallocated depreciation of property, AOEWE - BEREE
plant and equipment ZIE (878,707) (739,329)
Unallocated head office and corporate AORBREERNAIRY
expenses (note) (Hist) (6,159,230)  (10,432,949)
Profit/(loss) before income tax from REBBEEEEB L RIAER
continuing operations AR (E1E) 24,770,425 (45,858,405)

Note:

Unallocated head office and corporate expenses
mainly include professional and consultancy fees,
administrative expenses and business development

expenses.

wit -
KORENERRAANZEBOHE

BEXNEMER  THRAXREBE
R’ -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit

6. DEBEE

(b)

THESDRENRER - EERE

or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BEZYHER(ZE)
Assets BE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment assets REDHEE 1,928,032,430 1,839,076,919
Property, plant and equipment M BB NERE 271,851 1,150,238
Trade and other receivables U E TR R B A R IE 8,494,327 7,736,724
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEIER 21,440,334 43,496,814
Unallocated head office and ROBBIHER K
corporate assets NEBEE 79,716 5,217,644
Total assets BEMRE 1,958,318,658 1,896,678,339
Liabilities BE
2022 2021
—E-C T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment liabilities ARENEAa’E 1,352,640,821 1,331,715,526
Lease liabilities HEBE 286,583 698,916
Unallocated head office and corporate KA FENER K
liabilities NRIEE 5,018,999 2,151,149
Total liabilities BfERE 1,357,946,403 1,334,565,591
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEIE##ZRA R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T —H=R=+—H

31 March 2022

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHmEH)

(c) Geographical information (c) HEER
The Group's operations are mainly located in REBZEBEEMRBEARF
Hong Kong and the PRC. °
An analysis of the Group’s geographical AEBME Bz OTHINOT -

segments is set out as follows:

2022
ZECCE
Hong Kong PRC Total
Ei L £g

Continuing Discontinued ~ Continuing Discontinued ~ Continuing Discontinued
operations  operations  operations  operations  operations  operations
5| BAL 5| BAL 5| BAL
fexk  GERE KRR SERY  fERN £eR%
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$

V-7 A b-71 V-7 A V-1

Revenue W& - - 256,890,302 - 256,890,302 -
Non-current assets other than financial FROEE(GETERN)
instruments 265,264 - 284,768,079 - 285,033,343 -
2021
“EC-F
Hong Kong PRC Total
3 TE aE

Continuing  Discontinued ~ Continuing  Discontinued ~ Continuing ~ Discontinued
Operations  operations  operations  operations  operations  operations
8 BRI F& BRI #E BRI
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT A1 AT AT AT AT

Revenue Wi - 529,279 56,158,591 — 56,158,591 529.279
Non-current assets other than financial ERHEE(BETARS)
instruments 1,141,759 — 291,208,684 — 292,350,443 -
Note: Revenue attributed to regions on the basis of Biit - SHEBERE DIREPANER
the customers’ locations. B -

A
th
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H

31 March 2022

7. REVENUE 7. W&
Analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as REBZRKFEWSSMTBT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-C-F B —F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Continuing operations: BEREEK
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
Revenue from sale of completed properties HERTYE K= 176,692,293 -
Revenue from other sources H 3R =
Gross rental income from property MESHEBEES
sub-leasing business LON-EE 51,678,153 40,978,989
Interest income from finance lease U B E & R 2 F B WA
receivables 28,519,856 15,179,602
80,198,009 56,158,591
Revenue from continuing operations REFHESE X 2 s 256,890,302 56,158,591
Discontinued operations: BRI
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEH W
Revenue from exhibition-related business EERBER W - 529,279
Total revenue recognised B iR 256,890,302 56,687,870
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
Disaggregated revenue information for the HE-_Z-_—_FR-_ZT=-_—%F
year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 At BIEEZzDE
Wz E R
Timing of revenue recognition W R 2 R
Goods transferred at a point in time NEmER 2R 176,692,293 150,000
Services transferred overtime Pl 745 B s P 8 75 - 379,279

176,692,293 529,279

158 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED # EE@ERER A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—_F#=H=+—H

31 March 2022

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET 8. HMKWRIEE  FH
2022 2021
—EC-CE —T-_—fF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Continuing operations: BEREEK .
Bank interest income RITHSUA 468,117 339,706
Income from financial guarantee issued REFBER WA - 850,197
Government grants relating to unconditional  BEFEE 28, 2 BFH B
subsidies = 519,084
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE s
(note 22(i)) (Bist22()) 1,845,024 27,781,563
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAR W 5,407 7,801,713
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE  BERREZ
equipment, net BIEFE - (102,676)
(Loss)/gain on termination of lease contracts ~ #KIFFAEA#K 2 (E18) /e (4,764,634) 7,676,205
Loss on modification of subleases in respect HRAEWREREZREBZ HH
of finance lease receivables (note 22(iii) MAVNERE R (A 22(i)) (6,205,268) —
Loss on transfer of investment properties ERREYE BB
(note 19) (£ 19) (2,927,880) —
Fair value loss on investment properties KEWME N FEEEBE
(note 19) (K#i£19) (11,546,666)  (55,993,773)
Provision for financial guarantee (note below) BT TSHER B ( T 257 2) —  (22,880,660)
Others Hith 3,263,608 5,808,415
(19,862,292) (28,200,226)
Discontinued operations: BRIEREEK
Bank interest income RITHAEUA - 627
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HENE  BMEREREZ
equipment, net W55 - 85,704
Others Htt = 231,281
- 317,612
Total other losses, net HAi B &L OF%E) (19,862,292)  (27,882,614)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—=— —

=

F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

8.

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET
(Continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, mRIR
HIREEE AR 2 F (Nanjing Yinkun Investment
Corporation Co. Ltd.) (the "Guarantor”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company as the guarantor, entered into
guarantee agreements (the “Guarantee
Agreements”) with certain banks, pursuant
to which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee
the repayment obligations of two potential
business partners of the Group in respect of
the loan facilities with the principal amount
of up to RMB140,000,000 obtained by the
business partners. In this connection, the Group
recognised a provision for loss in respect of the
financial guarantee contracts of HK$22,880,660
for the year ended 31 March 2021. Upon the
disposal of the subsidiaries as disclosed in note
38 during the year ended 31 March 2021, the
relevant provision had been de-recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group as at 31 March 2021.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A

8.

Htsm s\ - B

EE

HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HILF
B ARARzBEEZENB AR
ERRHEEEEERAB(ER
ADERERABRELIRITR]
Rip=((ERHBE]) Bt R
ARBRREAEBZNEBEED
BHRZERET FRACERS
A AR#140,000,000 7T 2 & ZK &t
B(HEBBHIRSE) - it - &%
EREBE—_T-_—F=A=+—8
L FERVBERENEREER
1%22,880,660 % 7T ° 4 Bff 3% 38
FiiE REBEE-_ZET-_—4F=A
=St+—BLEFELHENBARE
HEBHEERAERR T —F
ZA=t+—BZEREHBRAERR
SHHERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s s B =[5
31 March 2022

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRATEHANEF (EHE)

Profit/(loss) before income tax is arrived at after BrEr B RS A (EE) 2k, (5
charging/(crediting): A)VATHIA -
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Continuing operations BEREER
Amortisation on intangible assets B EEHH - 97,403
Cost of completed properties sold BHEDTERME KA 132,690,334 o
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries” HERBARZ W (5,407)  (7,801,713)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWME - BERRE BB
and equipment, net” FE = 102,676
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets’ HEGRREE fa' (1,845,024)  (27,781,563)
Loss on transfer of investment properties’ — ERIZEWE 2 EiE" 2,927,880 S
Impairment losses on finance lease [ R E HEFIB 2 R EEEFHE
receivables, net - 806,497

Impairment losses on trade and other
receivables, net
Impairment loss on property, plant and

M ER R EMZRBZRESE
FER = 1,730,259
ME - BERSBZREESRE

equipment - 469,119
Auditor's remuneration ZEEEN & 1,000,000 1,550,000
Fair value loss on investment properties” REME N EEEE" 11,546,666 55,993,773
Loss on modification of subleases in respect BREWMERERBEZRIEHH

of finance lease receivables’ RaeeEEt 6,205,268 =
Provision for financial guarantee® ISR REHE - 22,880,660
Discontinued operations DHRILRE T
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BERSBZWEFE"

and equipment, net’ - (85,704)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKBRR 2 Wa - (2,182,040)
Impairment losses on trade and other e E TR % EoAh 3B 2 A

receivables, net EEFEE - 874,828
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BE RSB RERR

equipment - —
# The amount is included under the “other gains # ZE BT AGE MK ERIB TEM

or losses, net” in the consolidated statement of Wassk B - FE] -
comprehensive income.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % = — &£
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H

31 March 2022

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
completed disposal of the entire issued capital of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. These EEHEETRAN - ZEHBRRETE
subsidiaries carried out businesses in exhibition- EHEAXEGKLREREL RHESHESR
related business and food and beverage business. K% REBORIEIESHBEBELE

10. CRIEEEETE

BE-—S-—F=A=+—BILFE-
FEBEREESHAADNBA R

Upon completion of the disposal, the Group ceased RETE ©
the exhibition-related business and food and
beverage business.
(a) Exhibition-related business (a) REMHBEK
The revenue and results of the exhibition- E-_E2-_ZFNA—ARBE_F

related business for the period from 1 April ——&F—A=+—H(EEBH) I

2020 to 31 January 2021 (date of disposal) i BREREER WS NEE
were as follows: NN

For the
period from

1 April 2020
to 31 January
2021 (date of

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EBEMZERAR A

disposal)

BE-ZT-TF

mA— RS

—E-—fF

—A=+—H

(HERH)

1-EAR

HK$

BT

Revenue (note 7) Was (Wit 7) 529,279
Other gains or losses, net (note 8) HilasskEig - FR(HMHs) 317,612
Cost of inventories TR (124,524)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment %% - BERRE2INE (1,239)
Short term lease payments RRARE (372,311)
Staff costs (note 11) BT T11) (1,133,108)
Other operating expenses (note 13) Hih Q&R (K 13) (1,980,122)
Finance costs (note 14) BERAR(H et 14) (21,437)
Loss before income tax BrETIS BRI AR (2,785,850)
Income tax expense (note 15) FTiSBFAZ (M7 15) =
Loss for the period AHEER (2,785,850)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations HEBRIERRER 2 2,070,187
Loss for the period AEREE (715,663)
Operating cash outflows BER SR (1,368,844)
Investing cash outflows BERE L (1,800)
Financing cash outflows BMERS R (1,020,916)
Total cash outflows R8s (2,391,560)




e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Continued)

(b) Food and beverage business

The results of the food and beverage business
for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 January
2021 (date of disposal) were as follows:

10.

- F=RA=+—H
31 March 2022

ERIEEERKE)

(b) BEREHK

BE-_ZE_ZTFMA-—HEE_-T
——F—-A=t+—H(HLERH) It
iR - EREBZFENT ¢

For the
period from

1 April 2020
to 31 January
2021 (date of

disposal)

B_ZT_TF

MA—HER

T

—A=+—H

(LERHE)

1EAARA

HK$

T

Revenue e -
Other operating expenses (note 13) HiheEm (Mat13) (8,685)
Loss before income tax B Er ST A &S 18 (8,685)
Income tax expense (note 15) et (K 15) =
Loss for the period R HAME 518 (8,685)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations HED R IFE LR 2 W 111,853
Profit for the period 7R HA R 42 ) 103,168
Operating cash inflows LERSMA —
Total cash inflows REMALRRE =
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % = — &£
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REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

11. STAFF COSTS 1. BIHRAK
Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
BERSZER BRILRELER @t
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF “E--% —E-CE 2% —EC-CE “E--%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT by BT b
Staff costs (including EINR(BEES
directors' emoluments) %)%
comprise:
Salaries ¥t 8,738,988 13,918,643 - 1,019,576 8,738,988 14,938,219
Contribution to defined AT EFRIK:E
contribution pension s
plans 518,125 486,167 - 67,388 518,125 553,555
Other short-term LR HeEHE
monetary benefits 1,375,539 674,420 - 46,144 1,375,539 720,564
10,632,652 15,079,230 - 1133108 10632652 16,212,338
12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EERSREEEMS
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEMS
The directors’ emoluments are analysed as follows: EEMEHWHT ¢
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
&R /IR
he EthiRA| Bl ENfE ax
2022 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
- S BT AT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chen Weiwu BRERLE - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Mr. Zhou Houjie EEGLE - 585,161 22,023 - 607,184
Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao (note (i) TEXZF &4
(Heh) - - - - -
Independent BUHTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Youchun BRERE 180,000 - - - 180,000
Ms. Lui Mei Ka BEELL 180,000 - - - 180,000
Mr. Zhou Xin BT 180,000 - - - 180,000
540,000 1,305,161 40,023 - 1,885,184
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZEER A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EEREREEEMS 2
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) EEME(E)
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
Bk Bk
ik E iR HE L ENila 8%
2021 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
“B--f BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chen Weiwu REREE - 720,000 18,000 = 738,000
Mr. Zhou Houjie EEGLE - 240,000 24,834 - 264,834
Independent BUFHES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Youchun RRERE 180,000 = = = 180,000
Ms. Lui Mei Ka BXBNT 180,000 - - - 180,000
Mr. Zhou Xin RAsRE 180,000 - - - 180,000
540,000 960,000 42,834 — 1,642,834
No directors waived their emoluments in respect of BHEeEsEREH 2 T - _F=A7
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). —t+—HLFEzZHE(ZTE=—F:
/) o
No discretionary bonuses were granted to the REBEE T -_—_F=ZA=+—HItHF
directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 B TEREEREBMBLEL(ZZ
(2021: Nil). ——fE) o
Note: Wiat -
(i) Mr. Jiang Ruowenhao was appointed as an (i) IENZEER_ZE-_—FN\A+X
executive director of the Company with effect from HEZTARNRRRITESE -

16 August 2021.

i
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REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E__F=A=+—H
31 March 2022

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12.

MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

Among the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, two (2021: one) was the
director of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the above.

The emoluments of the remaining three (2021: four)
highest paid individuals, who are not a director of
the Company, are as follows:

EELEHREEEME 2

TEREHMAL

AEBRAARRFMALH  mE(Z
T_—F: —BI)RARAES HM

EEHEREX -

HHR=Z2(CF - —F : OB) &M
AT GERRRER)ZMENT

2022 2021
—=E2-= —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Basic salaries, housing allowances, EXFH® FEERM -
other allowances and benefits in kind H A2 R BN = 1,983,726 2,116,459
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIM R 46,661 55,500
2,030,387 2,171,959
The emoluments are within the following bands: METELATEE 2R
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—HF
Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees
ESEH ESEH
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 ZE T2 1,000,000 7T 2 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BT
1,500,000 /57T 1 —
3 4

No discretionary bonuses granted to the five
highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2022 (2021: Nil).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEBEMHEZERAR A A

o

N E_E-_—_F=ZA=+—H1tF

E-YEAEAZRITMALROBE

H(ZZE=—F &)



13. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

13. Hb &R

AR U R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
FECEEER BALEEEE @zt
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —BCCE —E-F —E_CE —E--F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V-7 BT AT AT V-7 BT
Property sub-leasing and ~ MEHAREKE
investment business B
eXpenses 7,107,791 16,287,022 - — 7,107,791 16,287,022
Property development  MEERLKEX
business expenses 15,820,451 7,962,282 - — 15,820,451 7,962,282
Exhibition expenses RERY - - - 227518 - 227,518
Legal and professional ~ EEREXER
fees 3,297,524 2,949,084 - 81,906 3,297,524 3,030,990
Travelling expenses ERRY 2,129 374,704 - 3,776 2,129 378,480
Auditor's remuneration % EIETES 1,000,000 1,550,000 = = 1,000,000 1,550,000
Others Eth 2,055,442 7,895,973 - 1,675,607 2,055,442 9,571,580
20283337 37,019,065 - 1988807 29283337 39007872
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z = —F %%
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REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

14. FINANCE COSTS 14. ME KA
Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
BERZER BRIEGEER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF “E--E —EC-CE 2% —EC-CE “E--%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
B BT BT BT BT A1
Interest on bank RITEEZHE
borrowings 16,352,121 15,600,258 - - 16,352,121 15,600,258
Interest on other e E-pailkl
borrowings - 1,643,646 - - - 1,643,646
Interest on convertble  ARRES IS
bonds (note 31) (Hit31) - 2,039,265 - - - 2,039,265
Interest on lease BEBBLHE
liabilities 34,703,673 12,879,874 - 21,437 34,703,673 12,901,311
51,095,800 32,163,043 - 21437 51095800 32,184,480
Less: Amount capitalised i - EERNE
in properties EAfe®
under
development (14,206,913) (12,720,566 - —  (14,206,913)  (12,720,566)
36,848,887 19,442 477 - 21,437 36,848,887 19,463,914

Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under
development at rate of 7.24% (2021: 7.24%) per

annum.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income represents:

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

5. Fi8HiRX

AR 2HKEERANZAEHAE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
REGERE BRALBEEY by
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —E--f C-—Z-—F —E-CE —E--F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT BT BT AT AT
Current tax for the year AFEHAKE
—Hong Kong profits ~~ — &&HIEH
tax = = = — = ==
— PRC Enterprise — REIREFAEH
Income Tax (5,358,011)  (1,159,720) - - (5,358,011) (1,159,720
— PRC LAT — hE B ER (3,734,208) — - — (3,734,208) —
(9,092219)  (1,159,720) - —  (9,092219)  (1,159,720)
For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no HE_E-_—_FR_TE-_—F=A

provision for Hong Kong profits tax have been made

as the Group has no estimated assessable profits

subject to Hong Kong profits tax for these years.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% (2021: 25%).

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the

requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws

and regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges

of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with

certain allowable deductions.

=+ BLEFE UEBRELFENEHR
B WIARAKRERZEFERE

FAS TR A S ERBUR A o

FEMNEARBEZ26% (ZFE - —4F
25% ) Z RGP RS -

THIREREE D RBERETBEBREA
BREEBABBREMG - THIBEHD
BIREEENRERETBEFLEE

WHfHH T A RIER -
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REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the

16.

profit/(loss) before income tax per the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

. i8R ®)
B {3 % B % B

RAEZERERPRARF

BArE R, (E18) 2 $RNT

2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BrETE RS, (&E)
Continuing operations FRICEET 24,770,425  (45,858,405)
Discontinued operations ERIEREER - (612,495)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEBATE R, (&18) 24,770,425  (46,470,900)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable #ZiERRZEHF, BB it
to profit/loss in the respective countries MEAE A (3,146,467) 3,719,358
Tax effect of LAT THEERIHETE (933,552) —
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TANBHAS 2 HgEE (5,730,017) (8,696,719)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBBAZBBEZE 717,817 7,497,851
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERREEE BB E - (3,680,210)
Income tax expense FEfHAY (9,092,219) (1,159,720)
DIVIDENDS 16. BRE
No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the HE_E-_—_F=A=1+—HIFET

year ended 31 March 2022, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the reporting period

(2021: Nil).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AR U R KM

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—_F#=H=+—H

31 March 2022

sREF,(&E)

ARREAEANRIEZERERRFN,
(BR)DRBATHRIEHE :

17. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 17.

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

2022 2021
—EC-CFE B
HK$ HK$
B BT
Earnings/(loss) for the purpose of basic BEHESREARA,(BE)2
earnings/loss per share &R,/ (B8R)
Earnings/(loss) for the year attributable to owners AR FEH ARIGREEEF]
of the Company (B1#E)
— from continuing operations — REFECEER 8,021,068 (12,734,990)
— from discontinued operations — REBRIEEEER - (612,495)
— from continuing and discontinued operations ~— REFELLENDRILELE
ES) 8,021,068  (13,347,485)
Number of shares RPEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BETESRERTRNEREF,
in issue for the purpose of basic earnings/loss  (E18) 2 LimAk AIHEF I
per share 2,308,866,570 2,001,937,781

The computation of diluted earnings per share for
the year ended 31 March 2022 does not assume
the exercise of the Company's share options
granted because the exercise price of these share
options was higher than the average market price
for shares for the year.

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2022 is not presented as the Group has no
other potential ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

For the year ended 31 March 2021,
per share was not presented as the effects of the

diluted loss

Group’s share options granted and convertible
bonds outstanding during that year were considered
as anti-dilutive.

HEBE-F--—F-A=+—AL#F
B2 ERBERFLEBERADADE
IR REARSHBREY
TR EERERR 2 T -

AR AEBRBE_ZT_-_—_=A8
T+ HUHFETESRTHMEREY
Bl RUTERINEE—_T-_—_F=A

=t HIEFEZEBREIRRN -

HE-T-—4=A=f—AILEE
e AN S B B 4 R 2 SRR IR
RTEZ TRRES O BERARE
B - B2 SRR -
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—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. 1% - MEKRKRE

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leasehold fixtures and Motor
assets  improvements equipment vehicles Total
&E-
RREEE HEMELE £ERRE RE Fot ol
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Cost BA
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-FFMA—A 4,156,107 184,018 2,393,262 1,929,948 8,663,335
Additions RE 795,791 6,445,221 411,260 — 7,652,272
Lease modification HEEH 592,571 — — — 592,571
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) WK B AR (M 32) 340,724 - 683,617 — 1,024,341
Disposals HE (3,735,729) (180,818) (27,837) (256,691) (4,201,075)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HENRBAR(HE38) (1,012,949) (3,200) (2,682,320) (667,068) (4,365,537)
Exchange realignment EX A% 27,518 211,819 562,772 147,511 949,620
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE-—F=ZA=+-HBEK=
Z-—-¥MA—H 1,164,033 6,657,040 1,340,754 1,153,700 10,315,527
Additions wE — — 236,996 — 236,996
Disposals HeE (383,757) - - = (383,757)
Exchange realignment [ERIECE S 15,515 280,479 59,847 = 355,841
At 31 March 2022 R-B--§=F=+-8 795,791 6,937,519 1,637,597 1,153,700 10,524,607
Accumulated depreciation and ZRWERRE
impairment
At 1 April 2020 R-E-TENE—H 4,156,107 184,018 1,249,101 792,006 6,381,232
Depreciation charge for the year AEEHESH 424,964 937,487 661,432 434,375 2,458,258
Eliminated on disposals HERHH (3,735,729) (180,818) (26,250) (154,015) (4,096,812)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HERBAR(HE38) (1,012,949) (3,200) (1,858,508) (536,473) (3,411,130)
Impairment loss for the year AEERERE 469,119 - - — 469,119
Exchange realignment EHAZR 5,550 30,810 425,297 139,211 600,868
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZE=—-F=RA=+—-Hk
—F--FMA—A 307,062 968,297 451,072 675,104 2,401,535
Depreciation charge for the year AEEHEL 596,573 1,488,911 458,483 478,596 3,022,563
Eliminated on disposals R 8 (383,757) - - = (383,757)
Exchange realignment fE R AE 10,649 65,526 26,047 — 102,222
At 31 March 2022 R-Z-—f=A=+-H 530,527 2,522,734 935,602 1,153,700 5,142,563
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2022 R-Z--f=H=1+-A 265,264 4,414,785 701,995 - 5,382,044
At 31 March 2021 RZE=—-F=A=+—H 856,971 5,688,743 889,682 478,596 7,913,992

The right-of-use assets represent properties leased
by the Group for own use.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group did not
pledge any property, plant and equipment.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEBIEMZERAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19.

(Continued)

No impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment was recognised for the year ended 31
March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, impairment loss
amounted to HK$469,119 was recognised in full
on certain right-of-use assets as the recoverable
amount of such right-of-use assets was considered
as minimal.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, depreciation
of property, plant and equipment amounted to
HK$219,110 (2021: HK$181,021) was capitalised to
properties under development.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

18. ¥ - MEKXE#®)

BE_Z_—_F#=A=+—HItFE
MERDE  BELIXBERERREES

18 -

HE T —F=—fF=1+—HIt&EE "
ERETEAREERHERRESRE
469,119 RAAZEFRAEEE
By AT IR O] & BEMG IR AT B8 o

BE S -_—_H#=—A=+—HILFE "
M- BERZHBEITE219.1108 7T
(ZZE=-—F 181,021 )2 &N
BERPYE -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REY

2022 2021

—EgE-= —E=—

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Fair value, at beginning of the year REV 2 A FEE 284,436,451 183,544,593
Additions (note 22) B (Mit22) - 282,698,882
Loss on change in fair value NEEEEZHERE (11,546,666) (55,993,773)
Transferred to finance lease receivables EREREHERKFIE (4,948,571) =
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEK B QR (47 38) - (132,283,765)
Termination of contracts KIERH - (15,193,199
Exchange realignment (I 11,710,085 21,663,713
Fair value, at end of the year RERZAFEE 279,651,299 284,436,451

The investment properties represent right-of-use
assets relating to buildings held by the Group and
leased out under operating leases.

During the current year, the Group entered into
agreements for sublease of properties for the
periods which approximate the remaining lease
periods of the properties held as right-of-use
asset by the Group. Accordingly, the relevant
investment properties with the carrying amount of
HK$4,948,5671 were transferred to finance lease
receivables, with the loss on transfer amounted to
HK$2,927,880 (2021: Nil) recognised in profit or loss
in respect of the year (note 8), calculated as the
difference between the fair value of finance lease
receivables recognised amounted to HK$2,020,691
and the carrying amount of HK$4,948,571 of the
investment properties transferred out.

REMEREAKERAURELEH
EHMENETEMZEECRAE -

RAFE  AEEERWESMBIILH
Fo oTHEEAEEEREEFBER
ERMENRGRESMEE - Bt R
H{EA4,948,571 B LW HBEIRE Y 3=
EEREmERERIGE  mMERE
1/52,927,8808 7L (2021 4F : #)ER
FREBHEBR(MFES) - HREHERM
AR EREWRIEAF(E2,020,691 8T
HEE IS EYEIRTE4,948,67178
TR EEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties were revalued at 31 March
2022 and 2021 on market value basis by APAC
Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“APAC"),
an independent valuer, who has appropriate

professional qualification and relevant experience

in the location and category of the investment

property being valued.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3

recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation

of the opening and closing fair value balance is

provided below:

19. REW= (#)

NRoE-——ER-_FE-—F=A=+—
B #EMEZAFEECEHATAGBE
FEBAERAG(EARDEMSEEE
EEh EAEBEGHEHBEXERILHFA
HEREMEZMERBENER AR
8% 2 B (A ERD o

BREMEZ A FEERE=-ALELER
FEEFE - FURFRQFEEER
ZHROT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Opening balance (level 3 recurring fair FNER(EZFEEERTF
value) BE) 284,436,451 183,544,593
Additions (note 22) NE(Hit22) - 282,698,882
Loss on change in fair value NEEEEEE (11,546,666) (55,993,773)
Transferred to finance lease receivables i E A T E R GRIR (4,948,571) o
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEM B QR (A :F38) - (132,283,765)
Termination of contracts BIEAR - (15,193,199
Exchange realignment B 3 S 11,710,085 21,663,713

Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FR&EHR(E=HEEEAT
EE) 279,651,299 284,436,451

Change in unrealised losses for the year M=A=T—BHIHEEFA

included in profit or loss for assets held B FARERBEL

at 31 March ) (11,546,666) (55,993,773)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

1 B FE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value is determined by applying the income
approach, using the discounted cash flow
method, based on the estimated rental value of
the properties. The valuation takes account of
occupancy rates and rental growth rates of the
properties. The discount rates have been adjusted
for the condition and location of the buildings.

Significant unobservable

inputs Range
Discount rate 6% — 9%
(2021: 6% — 9%)

Growth rate 2%
(2021: 2% — 3%)

Occupancy rates 88%
(2021: 88%)

Market yield 4% — 6%

(2021: 4% — 6%)

The higher the discount rate and market vyield, the
lower the fair value. The higher the rental growth
rate, and occupancy rates, the higher the fair value.

The fair value measurement is based on the above
properties’ highest and best use, which does not
differ from their actual use.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 or
any other level. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between Levels of the fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

No investment properties has pledged to secure
the bank borrowings granted to the Group as at 31
March 2022 (2021: Nil).

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

19. BEWXE (&)

RFEBEDREEBNEZATHERE
EERAMBRRERES  BRRABALE
E o BRMGEEFRBRYMEZIAEEXRR
HEeERR - PREXOHEHEEEZMN
ARLLEEHFAEE -

BEXF
BE2Y &iE
AR X 6% £ 9%
TET—E 6% E9%)
HRX 2%
T —F 2% %E3%)
PNER: 88%
—E-—% :88%)
MHELX 4% E6%

TET—F 4% :IK:60/0>

HINEEMBEEERS ' AFLEER
K-SR ERIRAFTRAS  AFE

ERS -

REEEFEDNRE LAMET &ER
BHAR  EREFRARESR -

BE-F--—4R-T-—F=F
S+—HLEE EEBAREBES
BT TEMER - AEEZHEAR
BAATEESRBE 2 HEHRER
AREE -

NR-ZZT-_—F=A=+—H HEKLKSE
YEEERBAERE T AEE ZRTT
BE(ZZE=—F &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H

31 March 2022

20. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 20. BERRIE
Property
sub-leasing
business
WESBER
HK$
BT
Cost D%
At 1 April 2020 RZZZZFMA—A 16,781,282
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) PEWRBAR(H738) (16,691,728)
Exchange realignment B X AR 15,367
As 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-E-—#=ZA=+—-Ak
—Z--FWA—H 204,921
Exchange realignment EHRE 8,634
At 31 March 2022 RZZE-Z£=8=+-H 213,555
Impairment WE
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZZTFMA—H 16,591,728
Impairment loss recognised EHRRRESR 198,401
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBLR(A:38) (16,591,728)
Exchange realignment [ 5% 6,520
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 AZE-—F=fA=+—HK
—Z-_-FMA-A 204,921
Exchange realignment T B 8,634
At 31 March 2022 R-ZZB--F=ZB=t-H 213,555
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-ZZ§=f=t+-H -
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ—4$=A=+—H —
The goodwill was fully impaired as at the end of REVHMERSHAR - HESTER
both of the reporting periods presented. & -

176 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & B E @R E R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T —H=R=+—H

31 March 2022

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. B EE
Customer
relationship
Golf club  and customer
memberships contracts Total
S ES:S
e EEBAER
28 EEAH BE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Cost RA
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-TEFNA—H 1,500,000 38,410,000 39,910,000
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38)  HENMBAR (H:F38) (1,500,000) (38,410,000} (39,910,000)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 R-E-—F=ZA=+—8"
and 31 March 2022 ZEZFNA-AR
L e e - - -
Accumulated amortisation ERBHERAE
and impairment
At 1 April 2020 RZE-TEMA—H 1,061,690 38,410,000 39,471,690
Amortisation for the year AEEHHE 97,403 = 97,403
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) ~ HE&ENBLRR(H38) (1,159,093) (38,410,000) (39,569,093)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and R-T-—F=A=1+—H -
31 March 2022 “E--FNA-BK
ey e l= — — —
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2022 R-Z--§=A=+-H — — —
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-F=ZA=+—H — — —
The intangible assets were disposed of during the BEEAENEEZE T -_—F=A=+—
year ended 31 March 2021 following the disposal of HIFrEFEHEWNB AR BRZEELR
subsidiaries during that year. (=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H

31 March 2022

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 22. EmEREERE
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
Notes HK$ HK$
B BT BT
Gross finance lease receivables FENELE M E AR 540,337,522 552,189,619
Less: unearned finance income SR REBELZ BB RS (223,737,790) (249,544,027)
Net finance lease receivables R A ERIBFE (i) 316,599,732 302,645,592
Less: loss allowance JR - EIEEME () (ii) (1,087,890)  (1,087,890)
Finance lease receivables FEUY & FH & E 315,511,842 301,557,702

Finance lease receivables analysed as: EREHEZFBE O ¢

Receivable within one year —FREKR 48,876,419 26,161,513
Receivable after one year —FiEEK 266,635,423 275,396,189

315,511,842 301,557,702

178 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZEER A 7



e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

Net finance lease receivables

The finance lease receivables are arising from the
property sub-leasing business. For finance lease
receivables, the customers are obligated to settle
the amounts according to the terms set out in the
relevant lease contracts.

During the year, the Group entered into agreements
with Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology and
Estate Limited, an entity which is indirectly wholly-
owned by Mr. Chen Weiwu, a director and an
ultimate controlling party of the Company, for leases
of certain properties which were then subleased
to the Group’s customers. The cost of these right-
of-use assets were estimated to be in aggregate
HK$17,854,449 (2021: HK$489,473,679), of which
the right-of-use assets amounted to HK$19,699,473
(2021: HK$239,009,782) and Nil (2021: HKS$
278,245,460) were classified under finance lease
receivables and investment properties (note 19)
respectively.

The finance lease receivables at end of the year are
analysed as follows:

Hiat -

(i)

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

22. B BEHERERE)

JE W B B M B IR

U RERERBRELAMESHE
o EEREREFRAME &P
BEBRBIEEES L PTE A RK

EEEE -

RER REBEEGLFALTRAEE
ERAG(HARAESRERITH
FRERLEMEZEBRBZESE

RETYWERERHE ZEY
XEBSHETFAEEEF - WEFEH
HEEZRAMGET 4% 517,854,449
7 70(2021 4F : 489,473,679787T) » Heh
i B # & E 19,699,473 JT (2021
F 1 239,009,782 7T ) M FE(2021 4F -
278,245,460 8 7T ) 7 7l 57 $8 & E U B
BERERBRREMERN(HFE9) °

RERBEREREFTHEZAMNMAT

2022
—E-=
Minimum

lease Present
payment value
REFAENR BE
HK$ HKS$
BT B
Not later than one year TER—F 78,953,944 48,876,419
Later than one year but not later than five years HB#E—FENERASE 200,811,999 85,323,903
More than five years BBRRF 260,571,579 182,399,410
540,337,522 316,599,732
Less: unearned finance income i RERELZ BB A (223,737,790) =
Present value of minimum lease payments SEBENRZRE 316,599,732 316,599,732
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 =% T
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—=— —

=

F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Net finance lease receivables (Continued)

22. EWmEHEERE®)

Hiat - (&)

()  REREEEFRFEE)

2021
—E-—F

Minimum
lease Present
payment value
RERERMRK HE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—&F 54,445,005 26,161,513
Later than one year but not later than five years HBB—FETERTE 174,661,610 64,434,929
More than five years BBRF 323,083,004 212,049,150
552,189,619 302,645,592
Less: unearned finance income OB REEZ B EWA (249,544,027) =
Present value of minimum lease payments SERENFZHE 302,645,592 302,645,592

Loss allowance on finance lease receivables

The following table reconciles the loss allowance of

finance lease receivables for the year:

(i) MEREMEFEZBERE

BHRETINT X :

EWRERERERAFE Z BB

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of year REA (1,087,890) (281,393)
Impairment loss recognised for the year REEERERZBIERE - (806,497)
At end of year RER (1,087,890) (1,087,890)

FEEMERARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Loss allowance on finance lease receivables
(Continued)

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
Group’s accounting policy in note 4(i)(ii).

The ECLs of finance lease receivables are based
on the 12-months ECLs that results from default
events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since its initial
recognition, the loss allowance will be based on
life-time ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk has been increased significantly since its
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment with forward-
looking information. The loss allowance recognised
above are related to debtors that are slow in
settlement and management assessed that none of
the balance is expected to be recovered. Based on
the ECL calculation performed by the management,
no expected credit loss allowance is recognised
for the year as the loss allowance is considered
insignificant (2021: expected credit loss allowance
of HK$806,497 was recognised).

Modification of finance lease receivables

During the year, the Group entered into
supplemental agreements with customers under
which certain terms and conditions set out in the
original lease agreements were modified which
resulted in a loss on modification of finance leases
with customer amounted to HK$6,205,268 (2021:
Nil) recognised in profit or loss in respect of the
current year (note 8). This loss on modification of
finance leases was calculated as the difference
between the carrying amount of the related finance
lease receivables before the modifications and the
fair value of the finance lease receivables when the
modification of the leases were effected.

(ii)

(iii)

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

22. EWmEHEERE®)

Hiat - (&)

FEW BB EFUA 2 B R R (F)

AEBRMEA0G)PREAREZ S
R MR ERRE -

R RmERERIBZBHEEBRAD
ZNR2EABHEESEFE  £R
AR REfERE AR I2@ARNEEY
BHEM - Rl BYRERARE
BRER KRG MNE - BIEREGNE
HEHEEFEAREE - EETEREE
EB B IAEREETANEEN - K
SEeEEEAEREAMHBEAA
BN EBZAERAIREAR
BEREAEEBEEREENEER
FEESEZEERTEMER RO -
WREAMEEER - LB RRAEE
BESREEREZEBRA  MER
BEEHMELEARTEHT FRE - BE
HEBEBETZENEESBTE
HREEBEEHERRANTREE Bt
FAMERRBHEEBFBBE(Z
T F HABHEEBBREE
806,497 & 7T) °

CHEE =/

RER AEBBRETF YRR
FOBKL REEWHEAEE TR
REGEHEBE BRRAARFEE
EHARETFIEUREREZEIE
6,205,268 (=T = —4F : &) (K
#£8) - ZBMAME BB IVIRER]
ATFRREFE R B F & RFUE M R (E B2
ERHEERSEEREAREE AN
ANEEZHNEENE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

23. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR 23. FERFERIYH
SALE
2022 2021
=F== —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Completed properties in the PRC held for fIRAREZEFE®R THE
sale, at cost R AR 837,029,266 —
The directors of the Company conducted AABEEELEMNEFAHENEZE
impairment assessment of the completed properties KEREE TYEEITRE G - &
with reference to the contract prices for the sale REBRYEERFENMINERT
of the properties to customers and concluded that B - it EARR TYEELRE -
no impairment of completed properties is required
to be made as the net realisable value of the
properties is not less than their carrying amount.
24. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 24. BRPYIE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Properties under development expected — FBEAMS &AL 32+ 2
to be completed and delivered: BEAME
— Within one operating cycle included — R—EEERRRTIA
under current assets MEVEEIRT — 770,392,961
Amounts comprises: SHEBHE
— Land cost — AR — 623,767,422
— Construction costs — BENR — 133,479,681
— Borrowing costs capitalised — B Z BB — 13,145,858
— 770,392,961
One operating cycle of the Group's property AEEWEZRBE 2 —EZERHE—
development generally ranges from one to two BNF—EME -
years.
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED R EE&ZERERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

(Continued)

The capitalisation rate used to determine the
amount of interest on general borrowings incurred
eligible for capitalisation for the year ended 31
March 2022 was 7.24% (2021: 7.24%) per annum.

The properties under development were all located
in the PRC and was expected to be completed and
available for sale within 12 months after 31 March
2021.

The development of the Group’s properties had
been completed during the year ended 31 March
2022 and the cost of the property development was
transferred to completed properties held for sale
(note 23).

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

24, BERHPYEE)

HE-_ZT-_—_F#=A=+—HILFER
REEREENMIGEE 2 —RIEEME
EZNEBE B ZERNMEERNERT.24%
(ZEZ—F :7.24%) °

BERAVEHURPRH - BEHER -Z
——H=A=t+—"HZ12EAREIKE
ATEHE o

R-ZE-_—F=ZA=Z+—H A&£EZ
MEBRETK BE_T-__F=F7
=T—HIEFE  VEEEKAEESE
BEHEND B TYE(KsE23) -
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—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. BWERRHAMRE

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables (note (a)) FEW S R (M7 (a) 1,170,385 1,024,059
Deposits (note (b)) B& (i (b)) 20,929,601 15,211,271
Prepayments and other receivables TR 5RI8 F H At fE IR
(note (b)) (K1&E (b)) 275,827,348 321,397,445
297,927,334 337,632,775
Notes: /}/?LEI .
(a)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on (a) MRMEHR - EREFRIOBRBEE

invoice date after impairment loss at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

BREFRAHF/HZEREOTIT

2022 2022

—E-CfF —EC-—F

HK$ HK$

B T

Within 90 days 90HWA 1,170,385 1,024,059

The below table reconciles the loss allowance of

FEUE RN AFE 2 B R R R

trade receivables for the year: IR TE -
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
Er JETT
At beginning of year REW) - 7,529,908
Impairment loss recognised for the year RAEE D BRRIEEE - 163,100
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries R EHTB A R&ERR - (7,693,008)

At end of year

RER -

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEBIEMZERAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Proceeds receivable in respect of property
development are settled in accordance with
the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreements.

Except for the proceeds receivable from property
development and income from sublease of
properties which are receivable in accordance with
the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group
generally allows a credit period of 60-90 days to its
customers.

As mentioned in accounting policy in note 4(i)
(i), the Group has measured the loss allowance
of trade receivables by using simplified approach
by assuming all of the customers shared a similar
credit risk characteristic under the life-time ECLs
calculation. Provision matrix is used to measure the
expected credit loss of trade receivables. The default
rates are based on the past due days by grouping
of customers in various segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is
available about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off in full if past
due more than 180 days and are not subject to
enforcement activity. No provision of expected credit
losses for trade receivables is recognised for the
year as the loss allowance is considered insignificant
(2021: provision of expected credit losses for trade
receivables of HK$163,100 was recognised).

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

25. BWERRHMRE E)

#iit - (&)

(a)

(#)

BREMEEROEWAEFRIATIRE

BE DA AREREE

B %R 2 AR5 A R AR B AR
MimE GRERZ DB ELEA
Sh AEBE-RETHEPG0E90H
ZIEEH -

AR BT FEA>) (1) 2 BETBUR P - AR
SERABLELEATERKERZE
BEE ETPREMARPR2HE
HEEEBRFTEBETZEERRKRE T
B AEBERAREEMET = -
EREHEESE EHNEDER
BEREUBEEBEXZ2ZEASBREFA
Alz@E ASET - Rt ERBEA
RINEER SESHEBERTSY
BRABEEIE - AR KRR E
RRTER B RAIEER - —Rm
T HMERERSH#EBI1S0B - B
TERITITERR - B FABEM
e ARNEBRBRERRAMTRE
F It F R E T E 5 U GRIE R TR
HEEBERBE - -_—F : %¥E
SEBFERRENCEEERBER
163,100 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES "

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(b) Deposits mainly represent deposits paid for the

lease of properties. An analysis of the prepayments
and other receivables are as follows:

FE W& R R HL At PR WK TR (48)

#iit (&)

(o) BEFEEFBEEVEINZEE -
TN RIBEREMERFIRZ AT

2022 2021
—E-— T

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Prepayments FE FUAR 201,388,503 283,986,917

Value added tax receivables FEYRER 44,052,532 23,547,655

Other receivables o Ath W 3RTE 30,386,313 13,862,973
Total prepayments and other receivables TE A SR8 K E At FE R IE

Rk 275,827,348 321,397,445

The balance mainly represents prepayments to
contractors and refundable deposits for various
potential business development projects.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEBEMHEZERAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The below table reconciles the loss allowance of

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

25. BWERRHMRE E)

#iit - (&)

(#)

BehEMEERHRBERAFEZER

deposits and other receivables for the year: BEURIHAINNTE
2022 2021
=== —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of year REA] (25,047) (718,169)
Impairment loss recognised for the year RAEE B ERRBEEE - (2,441,987)
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries A E B B A Bl& AR BR - 3,178,204
Exchange realignment AR — (43,095)
At end of year RER (25,047) (25,047)

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
Group's accounting policy in note 4(i)(ii).

The ECLs of deposits and other receivables are
based on the 12-months ECLs that results from
default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since its
initial recognition, the loss allowance will be based
on life-time ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk has been increased significantly since its
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment with forward-
looking information. The loss allowance recognised
above are related to debtors that are slow in
settlement and management assessed that none of
the balance is expected to be recovered. Based on
the ECL calculation performed by the management,
no expected credit loss allowance is recognised
for the year as the loss allowance is considered
insignificant (2021: expected credit loss allowance
of HK$2,441,987 was recognised).

AR EARERMEE 400 () 2 AR B g FHR
KRR EERE -

ReRHEMERFIEZEHEERE
D12 A BHEEEETE - HR
BRIEEREABMEI2EAANEEZ
BHEM - Rl BPRERURE
BRER KRG ME - BIEREGNE
HEHEEFEEAREE - EETEREE
E B IRERREETAEE M K
SEEeEEEEREAMLBEAA
RBNBAIERZEEBERAIRER
BREREAEEBIEBREENEER
FERSEHZEEREMER RS -
WEEAEEER - LB EREE
BESIREEREZEBHA  MER
BEEMELEREHT FRE - BE
EEEMETZEHEEEENE
HREEBEEHERRANTEE Bt
FATERRBHEEBBBE(Z
T F HABHEEBEBREE
2,441,987 %&7T) °

H
-y
et
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A DIRECTOR,
NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED
PARTIES

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of the amounts due
from/to a director, non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and related parties were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

27.

The maximum outstanding balance of amount due
from a director during the year was HK$77,800
(2021: HK$77,800).

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

26. W BN —FESE  WELQ
A ZFERBRRREBEALR

15

AA —
N
-

T FER T —F=ZA=+—

A -FEREK EBN—2EF HEBLRQ
Bl Z R BCR BB AL RIBY R E
B 2R RAREREE -

FARK—ZEEREZESAEEL
#/577,800 (=T = —4F : 77,800

AT)

27. BERBITER

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 7 £ 8

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$ HK$
B BT

Cash and bank balances presented in the REVBARAKRMZN RS R
consolidated statement of financial position RITHEBR 192,855,112 175,939,276
Less: restricted cash o RRHIES (48,099,576) (114,349,257)

Cash and cash equivalents presented in RERERERMENZ

consolidated statement of cash flows RekReEFEESR 144,755,536 61,590,019

Notes: Bist -

(a) At 31 March 2022, cash and bank balances of (a) MZZTE-_—_F=A=+—8 ' K&£E
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to FERFRZRITZUAREEZ
HK$178,334,226 which are placed with the banks in e MIRITH#RIZE178,334,226/8 T
the PRC (2021: HK$120,226,902). RMB is not freely (ZZ = — 4 120,226,902/ 70 ) °
convertible into other currencies. However, under ARBETTTERIBRAEME - A
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations m -+ RIBEAR B ZIMNE B IR IGEHI ) R
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment fE - EERNEESERE)  NEEE
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is EBBEREETINERER 2 RITHE
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies AR S A H i E# o
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

(b) Restricted cash of HK$48,099,576 (2021: (b) AEBEHETRITEFHFBAEZZRS

HK$114,349,257) held in the designated bank
accounts of the Group was pledged to the banks
until the customers’ building ownership certificate
of the respective properties have been issued by
PRC government and retained by the banks. The
restricted cash was only applied for payment of
property development costs.

I8 £48,099,5676 B (Z T = —F :
114,349,257 % L) E I FiRT - B
ERFPRRBZEMMEREERTRH
BFELTAHRITRE - XBRHRE
EARINMEZRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—_F#=H=+—H

31 March 2022

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ENERKEMENRE

2022 2021

=== —E-—F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Trade payables (note a) FERTE RS (a) 27,118,695 3,517,100
Accruals EETE A 1,612,400 464,938
Other payables (note b) H b FE T FRIBA A (b) 40,569,143 5,264,679
Other deposits received (note c) HEm B Wize& it () 33,414,931 18,281,736

102,715,169 27,528,453

Notes: Biat -

(a) Included in trade and other payables are trade (a) ENEXRREMEMNRERSEENE
payables with the following ageing analysis based o HRBERARBRBRZAH R
on invoice date as of the end of reporting period: BomT :

2022 2021
—E-C-HF —E-—fF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current or within 30 days BEsk R 30 B 3,406,271 3,517,100
31 to 60 days 31HE60H 23,712,424 —
61 to 90 days 61HZ90H - —
Over 90 days 90 B E - S
27,118,695 3,517,100
Trade payables are expected to be settled within ENERXRBHEE —FAER -
one year.

(b)  Other payables mainly represent the payable relating b) HiENZETEEEEHEEMER
to the promotion of property development. BHERRIE -

(c)  Other deposits received mainly represent the rental (c) EHEMPhZesFTEHEREZAERYE
deposit received in relation to the sublease of I EEZRS -

properties to customers.

A
th
e

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 =% 189



fRE R R M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H

31 March 2022

29. CONTRACT COSTS AND CONTRACT 29. EBHRAERENER
LIABILITIES
Contract costs EHRA
The Group pays sales commissions to property REBRMYEHERERKINANEEF
sales agents for securing property sales contracts BEHEEANINHEHERE - KEEB
for the Group on a success basis. The Group ZERERABRNER/E LA ©
capitalises these incremental costs as contract
costs.
Contract liabilities EHAaE
Contract liabilities primarily relate to advances EHNREFEEERNGEER ZFER
from customer for sales of development properties HEEEBME  BEFPENER -
before the criteria for revenue recognition have
been met.
Movement of contract costs and contract EHRAREHNEBZES
liabilities
Contract costs Contract liabilities
ELIEES ENEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EC-CE —E-—F —E-CF —E-—F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Balance at beginning of year REN 2 &5 3,948,423 — 434,758,001 1,060,627
Increase in contract liabilities as BUHEENEE
receipts in advance 20 - — 300,962,583 420,925,072
Increase in contract costs AR AIE M 11,700,716 3,822,794 = =
Decrease upon disposal of HEWBARIERD
subsidiaries (note 38) (W7t 38) - — - (248,289)
Transferred to other operating BRIHMLEHY
expenses (2,306,445) — - —
Recognised as revenue during REEEERE
the year oz - —  (176,141,909) (529,279)
Exchange realignment i 5 R 322,391 125,629 20,390,707 13,549,870
Balance at end of year RERZ 8% 13,665,085 3948423 579,969,382 434,768,001
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group Bz_Z-_—_&#=ZA=Z+—HB1t#
recognised revenue of HK$84,428,815 (2021: B AEBBRAETHMEHEE RS
HK$529,279) from sales of completed properties 84,428,815 7T(2021 : 529,279/ 7T )
that were included in contact liabilities at the SFAFVELEE -

beginning of the year.

190 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BEREBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. BANK BORROWINGS

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

30. RRITEE
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Secured and interest bearing
bank borrowings repayable within

one year or on demand

AR—FARREREEZ
EER LA RRITEER

99,234,953 289,631,436

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, personal and
corporate guarantees were given to bank by Mr.
Chen Weiwu, a director of the Company, his spouse,
a subsidiary and entities related to non-controlling
interest of the subsidiary for bank borrowings
obtained by the Group.

Interest was charged on the bank loan at 7.24% per
annum (2021: 7.24% per annum).

Entire equity interest of a subsidiary has been
pledged to secure the bank borrowings.

Completed properties held for sale with the carrying
amount of HK$632,173,370 at 31 March 2022 (2021:
properties under development with the carrying
amount of HK$770,392,961) has been pledged to
secure the bank borrowings.

Hat

T__FRZFT-—-—F=H
—BARREERERLE -
HEd® - —HRBAR REME AR
FEREREENERBEANEEIG
FIRITERABITREEA R A TE
R o

(il RITEREFANNERET24% (=T =—
F724%)5t8

(i) — R B R 2 2 AR A B S R IA
BERFITEE -

(ivy RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H EEE
£632,173.370B T2 HEHEE T
R ECEBRBUERRITEERE( S
—— % : BRME{E A770,392,9615 T
ZERTPMECERA)

H
-y
et
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fRE R R M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a)

CB 2017

On 3 July 2017, the Company entered
into subscription agreements with certain
independent third parties in relation to the
issue of convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$46,341,960. The
convertible bonds bear zero interest and carry
a right to convert the principal amount into
share of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of
the Company at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.215 per share (subject to adjustment)
during the period commencing from six months
after 25 July 2017 (the "Bond Issue Date
1"), and ending on 25 July 2019 (the “Bond
Maturity Date 1”). The conversion price is
subject to adjustment on the occurrence of
dilutive or concentration event. The Company
may at any time after six months from the
Bond Issue Date 1 and before Bond Maturity
Date 1 redeem the convertible bonds at par
("CB 2017").

The convertible bonds contain two components:
liability and equity components. The equity
component is presented in the equity heading
“convertible bonds reserve”. The effective
interest rate of the debt component on initial

recognition is 7.25% per annum.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A

31. TERESH

(a)

“E-LHFUBRRES

R=ZZE—tF+A=H ' 2275
BT & 8% 546,341,960 7T
ZAMBRESEETEIE=HE]
Y RERE c ZEURRESF AR
B W B#ENTE - —+F+
AZTHB(EHFRTEE1)%Z
NEAREE-_ZE-hhFELA-+H
A(ME#ZMAE1]) EHBERER
PHEREBESRO2IGHE T
(AT PHAZ)EBARRQFRAF
SRAEE0.06E T2 H o £ H
REEN EPIER TERER T
B ARAAAELFEITAE1E
NEAREESEER 1R 2 EW
REANEEER T RERES (=28
—tFABRRES]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(a)

CB 2017 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Company entered into deed of amendments
with those independent third parties in relation
to the extension of Bond Maturity Date 1 to
24 July 2021. The details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 9 July 2019,
11 July 2019 and 15 July 2019.

The Group recognised a gain on extinguishment
of CB 2017 of HK$5,937,254 at the date of
extension of Bond Maturity Date 1 (“Date of
Extinguishment”).

All the other terms and conditions of the CB
2017 remain unchanged. As the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, was
more than 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of
the financial liability, the directors consider the
extension of the maturity date as a modification
that result in derecognition of the convertible
bonds. The effective interest rate of the CB
2017 liability component for the remaining
period after the modification is revised to
7.38%.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

31. TERESH#)

(a)

“E-LHFURRESE)

REEZZ-TF=RA=+—H1t
FE - ARAIGRGESFIHA 1T
REZZT-—F LA +HWAHEZ
LW E=HEIMIER]RE - 18
BN ARBHRAA-ZE—NFLA
B ZE-AFtA+—BE=
T-NFtA+EBHZER-

AEERERGESHEEHE1 Z2AH
([FHEBAHHHAH T —+F
Al R E 5 R 5,937,254 78
7_E °

ZE—tFrBREF 2T EM
R RABBIMDRE T - AR
BIGxAeneE BREARE
BRI EmMEZA MR Z2ERER)
ZMRREEGBEEEFBRRE
MEMBRE ZBHBI10%
WMESRALERIHPARAEHR
IEER AR E SR 2 IER] - BMEET
% —E—tFrRREFAED
SRHBTEHREZERMNEEHRR
7.38% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
(a) CB 2017 (Continued) (a)

The valuation of the CB 2017 was performed

31. ATRKRES @)

“E-LHFURRESE)
—EtEFUBMRESFZGERD

by APAC. KAETEE -
HK$
BT
Fair value of CB 2017 at 25 July 2017 —ELFABRES
RZE—tFEtA=Z+HA
ZRNFEE 46,341,960
Issuance expenses BITHX (192,157)
Equity component EmE D (5,865,097)
Liability component on initial recognition RZZE—+F+HA=-+HH
at 25 July 2017 LR 2 BB D 40,284,706

The valuation of the convertible bonds on Date
of Extinguishment for CB 2017 was performed

R-T—tFaBREFZHEHA
- WA RS SR 2 B E R A

by APAC. THE -
HK$
BT

Fair value of CB 2017 at Date of T FABRRESF N
Extinguishment HEZ AFEE 46,341,960
Issuance cost BATRAR (86,920)
Equity component EmE D (6,061,380)

Liability component of CB 2017 at Date =~ —Z—+FA[#HR(EF DT
of extinguishment REizBEE D 40,193,660

On 31 July 2020, the bondholders of CB
2017 have exercised the conversion right and
converted the CB 2017 to 215,544,000 shares
of the Company.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EBEMZERAR A

R-ZB_ZFLHA=+—RH =%
—tFIRREHFCBEFFEAD
TR BT F Rk
BEAE 5 215,544,000 i3 A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(b)

CB 2018

On 15 August 2018, the Company entered
into subscription agreements with certain
independent third parties in relation to the
issue of convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$42,031,080. The
convertible bonds bear zero interest and carry
a right to convert the principal amount into
share of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of
the Company at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.195 per share (subject to adjustment)
during the period commencing from six
months after 31 August 2018 (the “"Bond
Issue Date 2"”) and ending on 31 August
2020 (the "Bond Maturity Date 2"). The
conversion price was subject to adjustment
on the occurrence of dilutive or concentration
event. The Company may at any time after
six months from the Bond Issue Date 2 and
before Bond Maturity Date 2 redeem the
convertible bonds at par (“CB 2018").

The convertible bonds contain two
components: liability and equity components.
The equity component is presented in the
equity heading “convertible bonds reserve”
in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. The effective interest rate of the debt
component on initial recognition is 8.27% per
annum.

The valuation of the CB 2018 was performed
by APAC.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

31. TERESH#)

(b)

“E-N\FUgRES

RZZE—\FNA+HEH - K27
TEITA £ %5 542,031,080 %5
T RRESFEETEYE=
FIUREwE ZFURKRES
BRE - WHABEEMITH=ZZ—N
FNA=Z+—H(EH%7TAH
2N BANEARE_ZT-_TF)\A
=+—H(EHZHAE2]) LM
N AR & REIZRERETR0.195
ST (A] TR iR AR QR IR AR
FEREESBITZRG - &
BESENETBERATRREN T
FE - ApE AR EHFEITAA?2
BANEAREESRZHE 2512
IR A A mEER TR ES ([ =
E-NFUBERESH]) -

AR ESSIEMERS  AER
I D - BFIHRIRA R E
BRZ[ARRESHEE T 2
2% - BERBORNTEREZE
REFEE8.27% °

—E-)\FABREREFZEERD
KETHE -

HK$
T
Fair value of CB 2018 at 31 August 2018 Z=—Z— \Fa#RRESH
RZZE-NFENA=1T—AH
ZRNFEE 42,031,080
Issuance expenses BITHX (174,688)
Equity component ERE D (6,003,801)
Liability component on initial recognition R-Z—N\F/\A=+—H
at 31 August 2018 TRRERR 2 BEE D 35,852,591
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — &= —4 %%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
(b) CB 2018 (Continued)
On 31 July 2020, the bondholders of CB
2018 have exercised the conversion right and

converted the CB 2018 to 215,544,000 shares
of the Company.

The movements of the liability components of the
convertible bonds are set out below:

2

. AIRRESE)

(b) =ZB—NFARRESE)
RZE_EF+A=+—"H ==
—N\FaBRREFZESEEAD
TR RE - - — \FEr &
55 215,544,000 AR 7
B e

REEFEERS 2EBHNOT

CB 2017 CB 2018 Total
—E—tF —E-)N\F

AR ES AR ES Mgt

HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2020 R-Z-_ZHNA—HZ
REE

Effective interest expenses ERFIBHZ (A 14)
(note 14)

Derecognition upon conversion BHEFEARERARRES

of convertible bonds by the BEX FTER
bondholders

42,173,321 40,685,853 82,859,174

983,274 1,055,991 2,039,265

(43,156,695)  (41,741,844)  (84,898,439)

Carrying amount at RZB-_—F=A=+—-8&K
31 March 2021 and —E-—H#=ZA=+—-HZ
31 March 2022 AREE — — =
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HREE#EERER A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

UNDER ASSET ACQUISITION

The Group has not acquired any subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
acquired the entire equity interest in Topper
Genius Investment Limited (“Topper Genius”)
in July 2020 at a total consideration of (i) cash of
HK$36,722,718 (equivalent to RMB33,544,000) and
(i) 800,000,000 shares of the Company. Topper
Genius is an investment holding company and the
principal asset of Topper Genius is 35% equity
interest in Dongguan Huachuangwen Land Ltd.
(“Huachuangwen Land”), an entity established in
the PRC engaging in property development. The
directors of the Company were of the opinion that
acquisition of Topper Genius did not constitute
business combinations as defined in HKFRS 3,
therefore, the acquisition had been accounted for
as asset acquisition.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

32. WBREEET 2WEBHE LT

AEERHE_ZT-_—_F=A=+—H
IEFEWEWBEAHBAR -

REBEE-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HLHF
[ AEEZRBRE()IEE 36,722,718
LM & W A R #33,544,000T ) &
(i) 800,000,000 A& A2 AR 17 U B & 25
BEARAR([EE )2 2BRiE - &
BREARARH—EEEERAR -
HXBEAEARTMEANEMERLD
AI([EFEAIX B |) 2 35% &k - :ZAF
TR BRI 2 BRI EYERE -
ARREERARBEREE T TERE
BB REEAEIFATZEBLS
BF B WEEETENEEREA
EEO
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Assets and liabilities of Topper Genius

its subsidiaries (collectively “"Topper Group”)

32. WBEEE N Z2WEBHE AT
UNDER ASSET ACQUISITION (Continued) (%)

and RURE B HIRE R IR 8 K B B8 2 B (%5

recognised at the date of acquisition were as

HEEEm|) cEERAENT

follows:
HK$
BT
Net assets acquired of: FritiE & E5E -
Property, plant and equipment W - WE & EE 1,024,341
Properties under development BRERAPYE 606,498,511
Trade and other receivables FEUE R E A IR 16,773,632
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHERR 22,478,405
Trade and other payables FERTE R R E A FIE (2,880,994)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders & Hf /& A T FE1% A% A& 58 5018
of subsidiaries (26,016,723)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (22,825,234)
Lease liabilities HEaE (325,434)
Non-controlling interests FEfE R T (386,614,863)
Net assets BEFE 208,111,641
Satisfied by: AT 7505 -
Issue of new ordinary shares of the Company, &AFEEZITARD AF @A
at fair value 171,388,923
Cash Re 36,722,718
208,111,641
Net cash inflow of the acquisition WEEEE 2B RAFRE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired g2 RE MRS EEIER 22,478,405
Less: Cash consideration paid Ji BIRERE (36,722,718)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WIEEEE T 2WEMRBARZ
subsidiaries under asset acquisition Bt FRE (14,244,313)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEBEMHEZERAR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
UNDER ASSET ACQUISITION (Continued)

Since its acquisition, Topper Group contributed net
loss of HK$11,018,074 to the Group for the period
from July 2020 to March 2021. Had the combination
taken place on 1 April 2020, the loss before income
tax of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
would have been HK$12,058,992. This pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 April 2020, nor intended to be a projection
of future results. The acquisition-related costs of
HK$1,255,000 have been expensed and are incurred
as part of the cost of the assets acquired. The
Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interests in Topper Group at the proportionate share
of Topper Group's identifiable net assets value. The
fair value of trade and other receivables, equivalent
to its gross contractual amount as shown above, is
considered as fully recoverable.

DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax losses carried forward to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 March 2022,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses (2021: Nil) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses
of HK$34,325,730 (2021: HK$34,325,730) can be
carried forward indefinitely and no tax losses (2021:
Nil) will be expired in five years.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
HK$65,907,348 (2021: HK$48,556,115). No liability
has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

32.

33.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

WEEERT 2 WEHEAR
(#)

BlESBBEWIEAR R
F+AE-_T-—F=F# ,HHFWZIS%I
E187$%E 11,018,074 7T - HAHER
—E-_TFNA—HET AAEEE
BT —F=ZA=1+—HIEEZE
Fir 15 £ B0 &5 18 /& /512,058,992 8 7T ©
KEZERMESRFE T —ERERRZ
E-ZFNNA-—AEKKEBERAEERE
PRIEEVS o W RIS EHEE 2 81Z - 1
TRIERKRERZ 288 - BB AR
1,255,0008 L EEX 8 - WIEAFTIR
BEEZRAZ —BREE - AEED
EEREOHESSEHNEEFEZ
LEBIET ER IS EE 2 FEIERRER - &
WEFKEMRBEZ AFEBAGEER
H Flla 4258w SR A gk E -

EERE

mUﬁ SHEENREE HIEHER

CMELAB I BE B A B 18 2 R T R A
Wﬁﬁfamﬁﬂ SRR e MZTZF
=A=+—8 AREBUBRRIEF
ZME  MEARKRBAFIBSERER
BEEBBEEE(ZEZ_—F: &) §
TH E518 34,325,730 L (T = — 4 ¢
34,325,730 0 ) Al B[R BA 45 88 - M
EREBR(CE-—F B8)BRAF
AJE i e

RBEER - BB ARKRSEANE
BAABRECHEABECERERE
4887 565,907,348 B TT(ZFE = —F ¢
48,556,1158 7T ) - B A K B g 24|
BOENE=HEsoREBEERE=BETAN
BER AT RS RIBE - MU ER G EE
WRAE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 = FE R

199



200

REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

34. LEASE LIABILITIES 34, HEAE
2022 2021
—E-F T
HK$ HK$
B BT
Lease liabilities payable ENHEEE
— Within one year — —FR 57,328,788 51,532,095
— More than one year but within two years ~ — BB~ FERRER 39,202,572 34,114,891
— More than two years but within five years — BBMFEERAFER 144,690,187 127,046,635
— More than five years — BBRRF 298,654,501 337,231,086
539,876,048 549,924,707
Less: Amount due for settlement within J 1218 B AR BREE T 2
12 months shown under current HEIRRBEEET)
liabilities (57,328,788) (51,532,095)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months A 12 & B & B Bi4E 1+~ 3k 8
shown under non-current liabilities (BIRIERBEEET) 482,547,260 498,392,612

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities at 6.44% (2021: 6.48%).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EBEMZERAR A

JERREEaBEZIMEFHREEEF
AEEE44% (ZFE-—4F 1 6.48%) °



AR U R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. A&
(a) Authorised and issued share capital (a) ZEERERITRA
2022
—E-CE —E--F
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
Vit AT Ri#E BT
Authorised: $E
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BRAG0ETZ EER
At 1 April and 31 March REA-AR
=A=1-H 20,000,000,000 1,000,000,000  20,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BREB0.05 T LBk
At 1 April REA-A 2,308,866,570 115,443,328 1,077,778,570 53,888,928
Issuance of share for acquisition of ~ FHUEENB A TR
subsidiaries (note b) i3 Hito) - 800,000,000 40,000,000
Exercise of convertible bonds frFmaRES
(note c) (Witc) - 431,088,000 21,554,400
At 31 March W=A=1+-8 2,308,866,570 115,443,328 2,308,866,570 115,443,328
(b) In July 2020, the Group acquired the entire (b) RZZEZZEHF+LAH A5EHIEZE

equity interest in Topper Genius at a total
consideration of (i) cash of HK$36,722,718
(equivalent to RMB33,544,000) and (ii)
800,000,000 shares of the Company.
800,000,000 Shares of HK$0.05 each of
HK$40,000,000 had been accounted as share
capital of the Company and the remaining
balance of HK$131,388,923 had accounted as
part of the share premium of the Company.

On 31 July 2020, the bondholders of CB 2017
and CB 2018 had exercised the conversion
right and converted the CB 2017 and CB 2018
to 431,088,000 shares of the Company.

Details are set out in the note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(c)

R B (i)IR €©36,722,71878 (48
) A R #33,644,000 7T ) K (i)
800,000,000 % 48 ~ &) A% 17 Uk B
% & 2z & & B% # - 800,000,000
i 5 ik mE0.0658 L 2 i 2
40,000,000/ ST E fE B AN A A i
AFIBR - MEREE 131,388,923 T
BEARRRIRGHEZ—E 55
EE °

RZB_ZFLA=+—RH =%
—tFABRREFR T - N\F
AR ES 2 EHFFEASITEIR
feiE - T —tLFAUBRRES
RZE-—NFrrkEHsERA
431,088,000 fx A A AR (D ©

BRFRBIENGEAMBHRAME
31 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(d) Capital management policy

35. BA (&)

(d)

The capital structure of the Group consists of

debts, which includes the bank borrowings

(note 30), net of cash and bank balances, and

equity attributable to owners of the Company,

comprising issued share capital, and reserves.

The Group's risk management reviews the

capital structure on annual basis. As part of

this review, the management considers the

cost of capital and the risks associated with

each class of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital

structure, the Group may adjust the amount of

dividends paid to shareholders, return capital

to shareholders, issue new shares or sell

assets to reduce debts.

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the

reporting period was as follows:

BEXREEREK
AEBZEARBREGEH(HEE
BIRITEE(MEE30))mERE &
RITHEBRA RSB B ABIGE
@ (BREBTRALMER) - A%
BZEREEABBFRIEANR
B FRUEAREH &0 BE
EeEBEARANSEERRH
R

REFIRHBELRRE  AREH
SREARRKNZBEEZE [
BREBEERN  BITHRIHEER
ELURIEET -

RERR - EBFERA L E 0
™

2022 2021

—E-CF —E—F

HK$ HK$

B BT

Bank borrowings (note 30) RITBE (KL 30) 99,234,953 289,531,436

Less: Cash and bank balances B BE RIRITER (192,855,112)  (175,939,276)

Net (cash)/debt (Re)/ BE¥FE (93,620,159) 113,592,160
Equity attributable to owners of ARRHEEAEEER

the Company 386,457,853 364,950,320

Net debt to equity ratio BEEFERALL X NA (FEH) 31%

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEEMERARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—_F#=H=+—H

31 March 2022

36. RESERVES 36. A&
Company ¥ /N
Employee
share-based Convertible
Share Contributed ~ compensation bonds  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
WRA%HZ
Ritiag EHER  EEEMEE TARESHRE 2RER L
HKS HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
A7 A7 AT A A7 A7
At 1 April 2020 RZE-FERA-A 2,162,373 288 28,784,000 7,292,983 12,026,789 (2,243 544,828) 33,067,768
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEHELR

(note (i) (Wit 131,388,923 - - - — 131,388,923
Exercise of convertible bonds 7 A R %

(nate 31) (Wits1) 75,370,828 - - (12,026,789 - 63,344,039
Loss for the year KEREE - - - - (47,954,794) (47,954,794
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April N -E--FZF=+-BR

2021 “3--fEA-A 2,369,133,039 28,784,000 7,292,983 - (2,291,499,622) 113,710,400
Loss for the year KEEEE - - - - (5,108,981) (5,108,981
At 31 March 2022 RoEDSEZRST-R 236013309 26784000 7,292,983 - (2296608603 108601419
Note: Biat -

(i) In July 2020, the Group acquired the entire equity (i) RIBE-_TF+ A XEBRERE
interest in Topper Genius at a total consideration ()R €©36,722,718 B T(HHER AR
of (i) cash of HK$36,722,718 (equivalent to # 33,544,000 7T ) M (ii) 800,000,000
RMB33,544,000) and (i) 800,000,000 shares of the AR R RR 10 W B 18 8 2 & BDAR A o
Company. 800,000,000 Shares of HK$0.05 each 800,000,000 fi% & i% ™ 18 0.05 7% 7T 2
of HK$40,000,000 was accounted for as share f% 5 2 40,000,000 B L EEAB AR T
capital of the Company and the remaining balance f& 7S %I B - M #2 %8 131,388,923 7T
of HK$131,388,923 was accounted for as share BEEARR RN EEIE

premium of the Company.

H
-y
S
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—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

36. RESERVES (continued)

36. #E®)

The following describes the nature and purpose of LTHAES AT ASEE THRE
certain reserves of the Group within owners’ equity: ZHEER B/
Reserve Description and purpose

C3]

Contributed surplus

Other reserve

Bt

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

K B 8

The difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date when they were acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing
of the Company’s shares in 1991. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the shareholders provided that the Company is able to
meet its obligations after distribution and the net realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities, issued share capital and share premium accounts.
MEBAREARATKEMNBAR Az HFEERRESEARRARMN
— M- FETAETEESERRKENZT2ARTRMEEBE L ZE
B RBBE-NN\—FAREQRRDE(LER)  EHAKAHIIRTRE
BRURERABINDIRKEERNBITEEE  MARFEEZ I#LFED
SENEEE  EBTRAKBRNDEBR ZEFHERE

The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of
the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in subsidiaries being acquired from and disposed to non-controlling
equity holders respectively.

REEMFEERERFAEARBREE THERERFTAAZMB R RIE
B MPORAD D RIER 2 FEERAE 5 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SHARE OPTIONS

On 30 August 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme for the purpose of attracting and
retaining quality personnel and other persons who
may contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Options may be granted without any initial
payment to persons including directors, employees
or consultants of the Group.

On 30 August 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was approved in the Company’'s annual
general meeting on 29 August 2012. The Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 30 August 2012. A summary of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme is set out in the
appendix to the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2012.

On 23 December 2013, options were granted to
directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries under the Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for up to 32,333,421 ordinary shares
of the Company (“2013 Share Options”). The
estimated fair value of the options granted on
that date was HK$9,376,692 and the amount was
recognised as staff cost expense for the year ended
31 March 2014.

37.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

o IR

RRSIWEBEFBFEAS REMAIEEH
REBZEBREEBERZALT K
RN ZEE_FN\A=1THHEMN—7
RRAEETE] o RARKER BEZ [ EMRA)
THEMRTREES  AKBZES
SERERNZ AT ©

R-_ZE——FNA=+H  ARREM
—IEFRREE([RRETE]) - &
BERZE——FNAZTALBEELRAT
REGAF RS FEAE - RIETEE
REZZE——F N \A=+HRFT10FH
AR A N - RIRESTBRA 2 E#
RARBIBBHA=-ZE——FtA=+H
BT SRR o

RIE—=F+_"A=-+=H " K27
RIERR B EIMES RAQR) KEM
BARIZEERLERRE  UREKRZ
32,333 421 ARG EBER([=Z&E—=
FRBRE])  -RZEARLZRBREZG
ST AF(EMEA9376,692/8TC  ZE %
EREE-_Z—NFE=ZA=+—HLHF
EHRBE TRAMY
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—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

exercise prices of HK$0.513 per share and weighted

average remaining contractual life of 1.73 years (2021:

2.73 years).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

37. SHARE OPTIONS (cContinued) 37. ABEE)
The share options granted and outstanding at end RS BIR B 5% R B R ITE 2 SRR HE
of the reporting period are summarised as below: BT -
2022 2021
—E-F —E—F
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
ARE T Rk INHEF
E2gE] TEE 2B 17188
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding as at 1 April and REA—BR
31 March =R=+—H
W ARITEE 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0513
Exercisable as at 31 March W=A=+—H
Al{TfE 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0.513
The options outstanding at 31 March 2022 and 2021 had S T —F=RA=+—H

AT Z BB Z ZFRITEER05138
TRMEFORBENFRB1IBF(=F

——4F 1 2.73%F) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements of

options during the year:

Year ended 31 March 2022

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

37. RARE®)
TEBEBRBENENZ EF -

BE-ZE-_—_F=A=+—HLEE

Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
Tk
EREAREAIR L ROHE AhEHE
Qutstanding
Qutstanding Granted ~ Cancelled Lapsed  Reclassified at As at
Exercise at during during during during 31 March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2021 the year the year the year the year 022 2022
Ho3z-§ oSkt
B3-A R R n B OZRT-R HCRCCE
Riag ] 5RE ke HWAfig R it BEY  BENAE  HARR ZRZt-B
HKS
V-3
Employees
fa
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Full vested on - - - - - - - -
20 December 2023 date of grant
5-F S ol s iSvintzhd
YRR ERERCAR R
Other participants
g5z
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 27942462 - - - - MM 21940462
22 December 2023 date of grant
%= “E-TEHAT1ER il
t2A-tzR EoEHPCAfIA HHER
21,942,462 - - - - R4 2192462
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 =% & F



208

REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

37. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

B E)
BE-ZE-—F=A=+—HILEE

37.

Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
T
ERUARES SR B AREHR
Reclassified  Qutstanding
Qutstanding Granted ~ Canceled Lapsed during it A at
Exercise at during during during theyesr 30 Mach 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period pice 1 Apil 200 the year the year the year (Note) bl 01
HoRCEE L
MA-A En Ef By BisE ZATTR A
K8 e 5EE I BR Bl Y Wz AxAR =R=1-8
HKS
AT
Employees
fa
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 13638581 - - - [13638.581) - -
2 December 2023 date of grant
EE Sz
B = e e N e
Other participants
Hfppak
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 14,303,881 - - — 13638581 21942460 27.042462
22 December 2023 date of grant
oz S S I il
+2A-1=A EOECETCATIR REER
21 942.462 - - - — T4 271942462

Note:These share options were granted to former

employees of the Group, who were key

management personnels of a subsidiary which was

disposed of during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Accordingly, the share options granted to them were

re-classified and included in options granted to other

participants during that year.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

b

BRERA

Bt 2 EERBDETASEENEES - &
ERNEBE_T-_—F=A=+—H
IFFEHEZ —BWNBARIZEEE
BEABE - At BT HRENHERER
ZFEEFHBEIFARTHMSE
EHH R -



38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

AR U R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H
31 March 2022

38. HEMHBAT

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the (a) BE—ZE-_—_F=A=+—HIt=F

Group disposed of a subsidiary to a third party
for cash consideration of HK$1. The subsidiary

was dormant.

B AEBRBIE=THE—
BEAR  BERELER1E

T ZMBRRERTER -

HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: EHEAEFE
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHE 18,193
Amount due to a director N —REEHIE (21,657)
(3,464)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange 15 2ETIE X = 5B m INE R
differenced from foreign exchange ENHEEER
reserve to profit or loss (1,942)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—REH B AR Z S 5,407
Total consideration satisfied by: ATH AR EERRE
Cash e 1
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFEMEA RS 58
Cash consideration received BUWHEEeRE o
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FrHERekREEEEEB (18,193)
Net cash outflow on disposal HE RS FE (18,193)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z = =5
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—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. HEKWB AR (&)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the by BEZZE-_—F=F=+—HI=E

Group disposed of the entire issued shares
of Elite-China Cultural Development Limited

B AEEKRRESMKET798,74375
TTHEREEELERABR AT

and its subsidiaries (“Elite-China”) for a cash (REEH | KHEMBARIZE
consideration of HK$798,743. Elite-China and HRD - RERAEMBATEER

its subsidiaries were principally engaged in
property sub-leasing business in the PRC.

TEREMEOEES -

HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: FritEaE %58
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB R 933,618
Goodwill [GES =
Investment properties "EYE 132,283,765
Trade and other receivables FEME SR R H A 5RIE 117,547,275
Amounts due from non-controlling FEN KT A Rl 2 FEIERR IR BR SRR
shareholders of subsidiaries 4,000
Amounts due from related parties FEUL BB A T 5RIE 110,388
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHER 1,583,567
Trade and other payables FERTE R R H AL FUR (76,241,497)
Provision for financial guarantee B TS E R (45,925,386)
Amounts due to related parties FERTRAE A T 3RIE (27,039,985)
Bank borrowings RITEE (71,957,245)
Current tax liabilities RITHIARE (90,991)
Lease liabilities HEEE (40,048,117)
(8,840,608)
Non-controlling interests eI (2,717,390)
(11,557,998)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange & RIEME = EEmIMNERKE
differences from foreign exchange reserve B DEZEIELR
to profit or loss 1,691,357
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARz KE 10,665,384
Total consideration satisfied by: LATF A REEBRE :
Cash Re 798,743
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEBEMEEZRESRLIFE
Cash consideration received BURERE 798,743
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FEERe KRS EEER (1,583,567)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZRESRTFE (784,824)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #

2 4



38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(c)

During the year ended 31

March 2021, (c)

e %R &M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s s B =[5

38. HEKWB AR (&)
B=

31 March 2022

——F®=A=+—HItF

==
the Group disposed of several subsidiaries B AREERBESNRELIBTRA

to certain third parties for total cash
considerations of HK$4. These subsidiaries

ETE=ZTHEETHBRRA - %
EMBAREZRUEREMBER

were principally engaged in exhibition-related RBRET ©
business and food and beverage business.
HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: FritEaE %58
Property, plant and equipment W - BEREE 20,789
Goodwill GRS =
Intangible assets mEEE 340,907
Inventories FE 9,676,331
Trade and other receivables FEUE F R H AL FUIR 1,290,323
Amounts due from related parties FEUL BEE A T RUA 205,372
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTA 917,907
Trade and other payables FERTE R R H AL FUR (11,250,526)
Contract liabilities AHAaE (248,289)
Current tax liabilities WITMIBRE (538,626)
Lease liabilities HEAE (473,958)
(69,770)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange 1 25 = B8 R IMNE [
differences from foreign exchange reserve  EFDLEEIERS
to profit or loss 741,405
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZEE (681,631)
Total consideration satisfied by: LT3 FREEBRE -
Cash B4 4
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFEMEAZRSRL F5E
Cash consideration received BURERE 4
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of It ERe KA EFEEE (917,907)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZRESR L FE (917,903)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % = — &£
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(a)

Huachuangwen Land, a 35% owned subsidiary (a)

of the Company (note 48),
controlling interests (“NCI").

has material non-
Summarised

financial information in relation to the NCI
of Huachuangwen Land before intra-group

eliminations, is presented below:

39. FFIERER

NN R 35% fE s 2 K B A A
FEAIE (M sE48) A E KNI
TR RE S ([FEERERE ) - B
A E Hh P & B ) S 8 Al 2 FETE
A 2 A AR an T

2022 2021
—EBE-CF —E-—F
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Summarised statement of 2HUBEERBE
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March BZ=A=1-HILEE
Revenue g 176,692,293 —
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF(B8) 11,780,212 (10,975,983)
Other comprehensive income Hip 2 s 13,992,055 46,883,578
Total comprehensive income rEEZENGBE
for the year 25,772,267 35,907,595
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable RS AEEER,
to NCI (B#E) 7,657,138 (7,134,389)
Total comprehensive income IR 1;521»‘5&7
for the year attributable to NCI 2EN B 16,751,974 23,339,937
Summarised statement of financial BERREGE
position
As at 31 March R=ZBA=+—-H
Current assets nYEE 1,256,681,503  1,171,050,440
Non-current assets FERBEE 5,110,193 6,763,754
Current liabilities mEEE (932,692,616)  (874,487,382)
Net assets BEFE 329,099,080 303,326,812
Accumulated non-controlling interests RIS 213,914,402 197,162,428
Summarised statement of cash flows BREFEXREE
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1—-HLEE
Cash flows generated from operating BEEBRELEZRERE
activities 278,083,883 22,463,813
Cash flows generated from/(used in) Txﬁ/éibﬁﬁ 8/ (FrR)Z
investing activities ERE 29,558,825 (326,479,465)
Cash flows (used in)/generated from raﬂéé@] () Vit
financing activities Beneg (215,662,671) 383,054,401
Net cash inflows ReRmNFE 91,980,037 79,038,749
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEERE R A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

(b)

In March 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, Dongguan Huachuangwen
Industry Development Ltd.* (REE A X E
#F% AR AF)) has entered into agreement
with the 55% and 10% non-controlling
shareholders of Huachuangwen Land, to
reduce the capital of the Huachuangwen Land
in total by RMB276,689,000 (equivalent to
HK$327,323,000) (the "Capital Reduction”).
Upon completion of the Capital Reduction,
the capital of the Huachuangwen Land
has reduced from RMB537,195,000 to
RMB260,506,000. The Capital Reduction
has be paid or payable to the shareholders
of Huachuangwen Land in accordance with
the shareholding percentage prior to the
completion of the Capital Reduction. A
decrease in the non-controlling interests of the
Group of HK$212,792,372 was recognised for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2022, the amount payable
under the Capital Reduction to the extent of
HK$34,116,597 (2021: HK$32,737,288) was
not yet paid to non-controlling shareholders
and was included in amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries under
current liabilities (note 26).

Huachuangwen Land remained as a 35%
subsidiary of the Company and the non-
controlling shareholders remained the same
shareholding in the Huachuangwen Land upon
completion of the Capital Reduction.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

39. FIERERE)

(b)

R —F=f K&EBz2E
MBARRSEANEXRES
PRAGEEEHEH 5% K 10% i
ZER X E M IE AR AR R ET 3L
FOBEANEMHEANBEY
B A R 276,689,000 7T (18 & 1
327,323,000 7T ) ([ EABIRE L) °
REREIR TR E - EAIX B
& A B M AR537,195,000 LAl
BE AR # 260,506,000 7T © & A
BBk B 4C Sk FE 52 IR B AN H R SR A AT
ZREES LN TFEAEZ
PRI o RNEE 2 FEERER R D
212,792 32 TREE=T=—
FZAZ+—HILFERR -

RZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—H ' &R
HIJR 1A T 2 FE 1 5 IE 34,116,597
BIL(ZZT = —4 :32,737,288%
T MARZR FIFERRR - W2
AR BEEME26) BT ZE
BLNENGIES i S

ERXBEWEBRARAESR
BbRrEEZMBLRA > MRER
BB TR TR - FFHER AR R M EE A1l 3
B BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

(c)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group disposed of Elite-China, details of which
are set out in note 38(b). Elite-China is an
investment holding company and the Group
held 60% equity interest on Elite China. Elite
China made a loss of HK$67,871,865 for
the period from 1 April 2020 to the date of
disposal of Elite-China by the Group, of which
the non-controlling interests share of such loss

amounted to HK$27,148,746.

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the

consolidated financial statements, the Group had

significant related party transactions during the year

as follows:

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 7 £ 8

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other

39. FIERERE)

c) BE_T-_—F=-A=1—HIL*F

F AEBHE ?i%s‘i HF
EEH O E38(b) c REFEHEF—

B E & “"T mAKEFE

REBERZ60%BE - R_ZT=
SFENMA—HEAEEHERES
BAHER RESRHEGEIE
67,871,865/8 7L + H A IE{E IR
IERZ B8 27,148,746 7T °

40. BAEALTRS

BREEMBBRREMBOZERESE
Sh s AERBERFRETZCERBEAL

RGWT -

(a) EREBABHM

FR -EEREMBETEEEABL

members of key management personnel BlemT -
during the year were as follows:
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries and other short-term FehEMEBEeEN R
monetary benefits 1,845,161 1,500,000
Post-employment benefits BEBL 2 1R A 40,023 42,834
1,885,184 1,542,834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease arrangement with Beijing Tian’an
Innovation Technology and Estates Limited

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021, the Group have entered into several
lease arrangements with Beijing Tian'an
Innovation Technology and Estates Limited,
an entity which is indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Chen Weiwu, a director and the
ultimate controlling party of the Company,
for the lease of certain properties in the PRC
at the total cost of HK$17,854,449 (2021:
HK$489,473,679), details of which are set out
in note 22(i). Further details of the connected
transactions are set out in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report.

Acquisition of a subsidiary from Mr. Chan
Weiwu, a director of the Company

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group entered into an equity sales and
purchase agreement with Mr. Chan Weiwu,
to acquire the entire issued shares of Topper
Group for consideration comprising cash
payment of HK$36,722,718 and 800,000,000
consideration shares issued by the Company,
details of which are set out in the note 32.

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

40. BEAXRZ #)

(b)

(c)

I RRZRABEEFRA TR L
ZHEZH
BE-_E-_—#K-_FT-——4#=RH
=+—HLEFE AEEBHEI]
RALZHEIEZEBRARI(AERR
REERERERARER LA
BRERAZER)RHEEMNS
BEeETmET L HEAERH
MR 17,854,449 8L (— T = —
% 1 489,473,679 T ) © BRI
BERAKFE220) - BERBAERS
ZELHBHNAFRETE WS
ElfAERS & -

MAARESHRER EEWE—MH
MEAR
HE_ZTZ-_—F=-A=+—81
FE - AEEHERERLEETL
BEEEHE WEREERE
B & fF $836,722,7188 ;T A &
800,000,000 f& A~ A A EE1T 2 KB
f&fn) WEESEE 2%
1R - BEFBEAHEI2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-_—F=R=+—H
31 March 2022

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

41. GERERERKT

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income (a) MRETEFRANGF (B8 ) mgaz
tax to net cash generated from/(used in) SEL/(FTH) 2R e FELH RN
operations is as follows: o

2022 2021
e —ET—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETS AR, (E518)
— From continuing operations — REFBREER 24,770,425 (45,858,405)
— From discontinued operations — REERIEEEER — (612,495)
24,770,425 (46,470,900)
Interest income F BB A (468,117) (340,333)
Interest expenses B 36,848,887 19,463,914
Depreciation of property, plant and % - BERRE2ITE
equipment 2,802,375 2,277,237
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 2B - 97,403
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BENMEREZ
and equipment, net BB FR — 16,972
Loss on transfer of investment ERIREYEEE
properties 2,927,880 —
Loss on modification of subleases  AEAEWKEEHRERE
in respect of finance lease DB LEREE
receivables 6,205,268 —
Loss/(gain) on termination of lease R IFFEA K ZEE, (W)
contracts 4,764,634 (7,676,205)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFHEEE W
assets (1,845,024) (27,781,563)
Impairment loss on goodwill R R EEE — 198,401
Impairment loss on trade and other  EWE T R E M FIE 2
receivables, net VERIEN SRV — 2,605,087
Impairment loss on finance lease FEN EE T E R IE 2 R EE R
receivables — 806,497
Impairment loss on property, plant  ¥1% - HE K& & 2 REEE
and equipment — 469,119
Fair value loss on investment WEMEZ NFEEEIS
properties 11,546,666 55,993,773
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B ARz W (5,407)  (9,983,753)
Operating cash flows before RETEELESHERI 2 EEE
working capital changes carried BHEeRE
forward 87,547,587 (10,324,351)
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #®EEHZRAR A 7



41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

e %R &M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s s B =[5

31 March 2022

41. mEBEERERMZE &)

(Continued)

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income (a) RETEFANGF(E1E)mge s
tax to net cash generated from/(used in) EEL/(FTH) 2 ReF AR
operations is as follows: (Continued) T (&)

2022 2021
—B-C “E-—fF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Operating cash flows before working BEESEHRICKERERE
capital changes brought forward shu 87,547,587  (10,324,351)
Decrease in inventories FERD - 118,924
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other  FEWE TR H M FIBR D,/
receivables (&) 53,706,978  (259,137,277)
Increase in contract costs BRI AL (9,394,271) (3,822,794)
Increase in properties under ERPNERBEFERTK
development and completed PIEEE N
properties held for sale (19,579,486) (110,412,132)
(Increase)/decrease in finance lease FEWmEREREOLM), WD
receivables (10,288,767) 8,919,868
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZREBELRD,/(1E) 69,906,413 (110,710,945)
Increase in trade and other payables FERT & 7% E A R IBIE N 72,919,672 43,705,512
Increase in contract liabilities EHEELM 124,820,674 420,395,793
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEREL/ (TR 2
operations e 35 369,638,800 (21,267,402)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — %= 43
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

41. mEBEERERMZE &)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) METBELEZABEZHE
financing activities
Amounts
due
Lease Bank  Convertible to related
liabilities ~ borrowings bonds parties Total
EHBEE
HESE B nERES ALFHE @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT V33 AT
(note 34) (note 30) (note 31) (note 26)
(Hi#34) (H#30) (Hi#3r) (fr#26)
As at 1 April 2021 R-2-—4mA-R 549,924,707 289,531,436 - — 839,456,143
Cash flows: BeHE:
— Repayments — B —  (225,970,163) - —  (225970,163)
— Drawdown — R — 26,783,333 — — 26,783,333
— Interest paid —BNE (34,703,673 (16,352,127) - — (51,055,800}
— Repayment of principal —EREERGEY
element of lease liabilities reHn (30,652, 135) = = —  (30,652,135)
Total changes from financing ~ BEBESHE S
cash flows % (65,355,808)  (215,538,957) — —  (280,894,765)
Other changes: A2
— Interest expenses —FISR% 34,701,628 2,147,259 = —  36,348887
— Interest expenses capitalised — AL ARERNEL
as properties under FER%
development 2,045 14,204,868 — - 14,206,913
— Increase in lease liabilities ~ — FREuFHAELHE
from entering into new AEEN
leases during the year 17,854,449 - - — 17,854,449
— Decrease in lease liabilities — KIFAHE2BE
upon termination of AEEN
contracts (19,855,803) = = —  (19,855,803)
— Exchange realignment —ERBAE 22,604,830 8,890,347 = — 31495177
Balance at 31 March 2022 R-E--£=fA=1-8
pd 539,876,048 99,234,953 - — 639,111,001

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AR U R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-__F=A=+—H

31 March 2022

41. mEBEERERMZE &)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BEFBELZEGBIYERE)
financing activities (Continued)
Amounts
due
Lease Bank  Convertible to related
liabilities  borrowings bonds parties Total
RITR EfBE
HESR HitEE  TRRES ALTRE b
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT AT AT
(note 34) (note 30) (note 31) (note 26)
(Hit34) (Hi30) (Hi#31) (Hi#26)
As at 1 April 2020 R-E-SFNA—A 121,567,022 92,539,802 82,859,174 27,040,427 324,006,425
Cash flows: RERE:
— Repayments — ER — (151,763,797) = — (151,763,797)
— Drawdown — & — 380,579,437 - — 380,579,437
— Interest paid — B8 (12,901,311)  (17,243,904) — — (30,145,215)
— Repayment of principal ~ — EEHEEEY
element of lease KeHH
liabilities (23,876,417) = = —  (23,876,417)
Total changes from financing BREEETEZ
cash flows 2yuH (36,777,728) 211,571,736 - — 174,794,008
Other changes: Hit2
— Interest expenses —FBR% 12,893,236 4,531,413 2,039,265 — 19463914
— Interest expenses — BRI BEBRENEL
capitalised as properties FERZ
under development 8,075 12,712,491 — — 12,720,566
— Derecognition upon — B5EE ABRTRR
conversion of EHREERR
convertible bonds by the
bondholders — —  (84,898,439) —  (84,898,439)
— Increase in lease liabiliies — FMFTUHAEZHE
from entering into new BEEN
leases during the year 490,232,970 — - — 490,232,970
— Decrease in lease liabilities — &[R4 FE
upon termination of BEEN
contracts (22,869,404) = = — (22,869,404)
— Acquisition of subsidiaries — WEEHB A A(H232)
(note 32) 325,434 22,825,234 — — 23,150,668
— Effect of modification —BuEE 592,571 - - - 592,571
— Disposal of subsidiaries ~ — HEMBAR(#1238)
(note 38) (40,622,075)  (71,957,245) —  (27,039,985) (139,519,305)
— Exchange realignment ~ — ERFE 24,474,606 17,308,005 — (442) 41,782,169
Balance at 31 March 2021 W=E-—%#=A=+—H
LR 549,924,707 289,531,436 — — 839,456,143
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 =% Y
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—E-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2022

42. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENT 42. REBFERH
Operating leases — Lessor REHE — HAA
The Group sub-leases its investment properties REBBELEHESHERFE &
in the PRC under operating leases. Sub-leases of BYE - RHPESEYMEZHYOBES
properties in the PRC usually run for one to six —ERF(ZE—F: —FELF)- M
years (2021: one to seven years). Lease payments ENfFzaTAETRETmERS - #BE
are usually negotiated to reflect market rentals. HABESRAREE -
None of the lease includes contingent rentals.
The minimum lease receivables under BESAHELCEHE s EEWHEE
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: I
2022 2021
—E-CF T %
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 22,279,362 30,445,332
Later than one year and not later than BRE—FETNERART
five years 32,811,481 49,132,939
More than five year iy Ak 740,146 3,257,892
55,830,989 82,836,163
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED R EE&ZERERA A
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43. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

43. BARR HAbAiE

2022 2021
B —ZE-——F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted for but not provided BRI 4B R EE
— Commitments for construction — BEANZEE
contracts — 134,480,594

In additions, during the current year, the Group
entered into agreements with a non-controlling
interest for the acquisition of additional 55%
equity interest in a subsidiary, Huachuangwen
Land (note 39), for an aggregate consideration of
RMB137,300,000 which is to be satisfied by (i) cash
of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$48,000,000),
(i) 450,000,000 consideration shares to be issued
by the Company at an issue price of HK$0.2 per
share; and (iii) convertible bonds to be issued
by the Company with the principal amount of
HK$27,120,000. Completion of the acquisition of the
additional 55% equity interest in Huachuangwen,
which is subject to approval by the shareholders of
the Company, has not taken place and settlements
of the consideration for the acquisition of
RMB137,300,000 has not been made by the Group
up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements.

BEAN C RARFEE - AEBEEIEEREZ
Ik MBI B R R ERI X E i
ZREINBE% BR (BT 3E39) - BREAR
AR #137,300,0007T © #&A(WEE A
R ™ 40,000,000 7T (48 & 7 48,000,000
BT ¢ () BT REEIREITESRO0.2
P TL# T ¥ 17 2 A A ] 450,000,000 A%
RERDRGINARRETEITASRE
£27,120,0008 02 AT AR EH AT o
WHEERIX 2T (AFRRRREH
HEEAAEE)MREE  MEEZXSE
REMBRFTEMERR  AEBEHK
BT REERE AR 137,300,000 7T °

H
-y
et
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2022

44, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44. HAREE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED # E BEREBERAR

At the respective reporting dates, the contingent
liabilities of the Group were as follows:

REBAREAE  AEEZHREEN
T

2022 2021
=F-c —ET-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Guarantees granted to financial REWESBTBERET
institutions on behalf of purchasers SR R

of property units

415,660,013 136,822,542

The Group arranges with various domestic banks
in the PRC to provide loan and mortgage facilities
to purchasers of its properties prior to the transfer
of building ownership certificate. In line with the
consumer banking practices in the PRC, these
banks require the Group to provide guarantees
in respect of these loans including the principal,
interest and other incidental costs. If a purchaser
defaults on loan repayment, the relevant mortgagee
bank is entitled to deduct the amount repayable
from the restricted cash account. These guarantees
would be released by the banks upon the receipt by
the banks of the building ownership certificates of
the respective properties when the certificate have
been issued by the relevant authorities.

The directors consider that it is not probable for
the Group to sustain a loss under these guarantees
as during the period of these guarantees, the
Group can take over the ownerships of the related
properties under default and sell the properties
at prices which are well above the amounts paid/
payable by the Group to the banks under the
guarantees, accordingly no provision for the
guarantees has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

R EEEZR - AREZHZETE
BARTAEMEEREHERNIZIS
WME - KBHBEEBEERITED - %
ERTELAEERZEFER(BEAR
T NMEREMEERAR)REIER -
WEREREEER - AIABRBRT
BREABXRIRSEFHBMATERZ
TR BERFRITNEUEREEESE
FEZERNENEEMERER %
FRITHRRZFER -

EZRA AEETAREBRERAZRTE
RMRZEL  RARARERZEE
FRPEAERZOBATRERBYED
B UTRESRAEEREZSE
REN A RITHENERLEEZE
WE - Hit - YEREEMBRERAR
A EPERET IR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—_F#=H=+—H

45. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amount
and fair value of financial assets and liabilities as
defined in note 4(i) to the consolidated financial & :
statements:

31 March 2022

45. BEH B 2B EER M
BEME

TRETGEA VBRI A0 FRE
ZHBEERARZEEERRFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Financial assets BKEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REENAFTENNEEE
— Financial assets included in trade  — JEWE & H i EUY
and other receivables FIEBENNBEE 96,538,831 53,645,858
— Finance lease receivables — ERREREFRIE 315,511,842 301,557,702
— Amount due from a director — B —RESFHIE 77,800 77,800
— Amount due from non-controlling  — FEURHI B A T2 FEHEAR
shareholders of subsidiaries B IR - 5,217,644
— Amounts due from related parties — FEWEIRE A £ 51E 1,916 2,366
— Cash and bank balances — R RFITHEH 192,855,112 175,939,276
604,985,501 536,440,646
Financial liabilities SR
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IREEKXAAENTHEE
— Trade and other payables — ENEREHEMENKIE 102,715,169 27,528,453
— Amounts due to non-controlling — ERMHB AR Z IEER
shareholders of subsidiaries B& IR 35,817,817 32,737,288
— Bank borrowings — RITEE 99,234,953 289,531,436
— Lease liabilities — HEaE 539,876,048 549,924,707
777,643,987 899,721,884

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values. The
fair value of these financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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31 March 2022

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group's business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from its equity investment
in other entities.

Policy for managing these risks is set by the Board
following recommendations from the chief financial
officer. Certain risks are managed centrally, while
others are managed locally following guidelines
communicated from the management. The policy
for each of the above risks is described in more
detail below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties
will default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group exposes to credit risk from trade,
other and loan receivables and finance lease
receivables. The Group has adopted a credit
policy to monitor and mitigate credit risk
arising from trade debtors. Credit limit is
regularly reviewed and approved by head of
credit control. The Group assesses credit risk
based on customers’ past due records, trading
history, financial conditions, credit ratings
and taken into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. Customers with balances more than
a reasonable period of past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted.

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
for the balance of trade receivables. However,
the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debts at
the end of reporting period to ensure that
adequate loss allowances are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED i 1E I B A
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all of the trade
receivables balances. As at 31 March
2022 and 2021, the loss allowance for
trade receivables was determined in the
provision matrix on the basis of aging
analysis by invoice date as disclosed
(note 25). The expected credit losses
below also incorporated forward-looking
information and groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e. by geographical region,
customer type and rating, and product
or service type) in calculation. The
calculation also reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the
reporting date. The expected credit
loss rate for the trade receivables
within 90 days is 0.1% (2021: 0.1%)
and no provision of expected credit
loss allowance for trade receivables
is recognised for the year as the loss
allowance is considered insignificant
(2021: provision of expected credit losses
for trade receivables of HK$163,100 was
recognised).

Finance lease receivables

The loss allowance of finance lease
receivables is calculated under 12-months
ECL calculation classified as stage 1 of
ECL model. An average 0.3% (2021:
0.4%) expected credit loss rate is used
by the management for calculating
the ECL allowance of the balance
classified as stage 1 ECL model as the
management considered the credit-
impaired risk is low. No expected credit
loss allowance is recognised for the
year as the loss allowance is considered
insignificant (2021: expected credit
loss allowance of HK$806,497 was
recognised).
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Other financial assets

The loss allowance of other receivables
and amounts due from related parties
are calculated under 12-months ECL
calculation classified as stage 1 of ECL
An average 0.3% (2021: 0.3%)
expected credit loss rate is used by the

model.

management for calculating the ECL
allowance of the balance classified as
stage 1 ECL model as the management
considered the credit-impaired risk is low.
Based on the assessment performed
by the management, no expected credit
loss allowance is recognised for the
year as the loss allowance is considered
insignificant (2021: expected credit
loss allowance of HK$2,441,987 was
recognised).

The credit risk on bank balances and
cash is limited because they are placed
with reputable banks with external credit
rating of at least A1 assigned by an
international credit-rating agency.

The Group is not exposed to
concentration of credit risk. Further
analysis of credit risk associated with
trade and other receivables is set out in
note 25.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to ensure that there

are adequate funds to meet commitments

associated with its financial liabilities. Cash

flows of the Group are closely monitored by

senior management on an ongoing basis.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. BB EREE &)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FBELER(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities A BEZAXNEHEERNT ¢

are shown as below:

Repayable
REES
More than More than Total
Within Tyearbut 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
it ikl A
-Ehg -8 M AERRE
REX SRWE SREE Fitohika hELE BEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V-7 Ar Ar Ar Ar Ar
2022 —ECCE
Non-derivatives: HATE
Trade and other payables EREFREMTE 102,715,169 - - - 102715169 102,715,169
Amounts due to non- ERHBARL
controlling shareholders of ~ JFERIEEZE
subsidiaries 35,817,817 - - - 35,817,817 35,817,817
Bank borrowings RIS 106,498,299 - - - 106498299 99,234,953
Lease liabilities HERR 91,756,546 71,198,680 222,982,124 362,892,120 748,829,470 539,876,048
336,787,831 71,198,680 222,982,124 362,892,120 993,860,755 777,643,987
2021 IRz-f
Non-derivatives: FATE
Trade and other payables EREHRAMIE 27528453 = = — 27528453 27608483
Amounts due to non- EMHERARZ
controlling shareholders of ~ FEERIEFE
subsidiaries 32,737,288 - - — 32,737,288 32,737,288
Bank borrowings RTEE 310,206,360 - - — 310206360 289,531,436
Lease liabilities HERE 85040070 66742273 209,804,074 419418053  781,004470 549,924,707

455,512,171 66,742,273 209,804,074 419,418,053  1,161476571 839,721,884

A
th
e
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

46. MBEAKREE (&)

(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIEmEER
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest HRIRITERRZERITERZIR
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing TSRS  KEEEMYIRE
market interest rate on bank balances and mEFERR -
variable-rate bank loans.
The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk ANEE A E S B HEE R ZEFIR
which relates primarily to its cash and cash FEZEERREEMEERH KR
equivalents and bank borrowings which are BEEREBZMERER - NERE B AT
at floating rates. The Group currently does LA ATE T A S 4% f =
not use any derivative contracts to hedge Rk o A BEREHESZTERE
the interest rate risk. However, management BEHERNFERR -
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
Interest rate profile FIFAE
The following table details interest rates TR ANEBEIE BT EFERE
analysis that management of the Group & 2 R AT -
evaluates the interest rate risk.
2022 2021
—E-CF —E--F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$ rate (%) HK$
EBFAE(%) BT EBEFE%) BT
Financial assets WBEE
Fixed-rate financial assets: EEHKEE
— Finance lease receivables — RURERENE 9.31% 315,511,842 10.07% 301,557,702
Floating-ate financial assets: ZEMBAE
— Cash and bank balances — ReRBTEH 0.24% 192,855,112 0.19% 175,939,276
Financial liabilities BEas
Fixed-rate financial liabilities: TEENKAE:
— Bank borrowings — ®RITEE 7.24% 99,234,953 7.24% 289,531,436
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 6.44% 539,876,048 6.48% 549,924,707
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the results after tax in response to
reasonably possible changes in interest rate
to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of reporting period. In determining
the effect on results after tax on the next
accounting period until next end of reporting
period, management of the Group assumes

—ZE-—=A=+—H
31 March 2022

R EREE)

(c)

FREb(E)
MBET T

TRETRRERARBRREFEERS
REEAZERRER MK SR
AREFEMEE AT E) - INE
TEHBRTIEEEN T — A5 HMN
HEE T —EREHRCHER - K
SEERERIFNERREHRE
BANERMBEEMEHERITE -
RZEZZFR_F—FHMEHA

that the change in interest rate had occurred Z AR R )
at the end of reporting period and all other
variables remain constant. There is no change
in the methods and assumptions used in 2022
and 2021.
2022 2021
—B--F T
Group’s Group's
profit for loss for
the year the year
to be to be
increased/  decreased/
(decreased) (increased)
by by
£8z L 3tivd
REEWZE AFEFIE
®m,/CRP) @d (Em)
HKS$ HK$
BT T
Increase by 100 basis points H#H0 100 {EE 24 1,928,551 1,759,393
Decrease by 100 basis points A 100 EE2h (1,928,551) (1,759,393)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
the PRC with most of the transactions settled
in their respective functional currencies in
which the group entities operate. Therefore
the Group does not have significant exposure
to risk resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.

(d)

BERER

AEBEBREERTEEE - A
BH RS AEEE WS FLEH
2 AWM RS - Fit - A%
B3 M E R BB T AS B A
A -
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=
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47. COMPANY’'S STATEMENT OF . RRAT 2 BRI E
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March 2022 RZFE-——F=H=4+—H
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Notes HK$ HK$
BiaE BT BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
__Interests in subsidiaries | MERRZ s 208,566,097 208,566,097
Current assets REE

Amounts due from subsidiaries 108,155,018 78,216,518

Other receivables E b pE U 3k I8 2,009,460 2,009,460

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFEHEER 684,293 14,687,878
Total current assets  ngEEEE 110,848,771 94,913,856
Total assets ~~ ~ ®E®@E 319,414,868 303,479,953
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities RBERE

Other payables H{ﬂzrﬁmﬁ = 1,638,940

Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHTE A 95,370,121 72,687,285

Convertible bonds ﬂ?ﬁﬂﬁ%% — =
Total current liabilities mENE BB 95,370,121 74,326,225
Net current assets ~ ##m#ZEF¥E 00000 15,478,650 20,587,631
Total assets less current EELERRBAERS

liabilities 224,044,747 229,153,728
Total liabilities =Rt Ll 95,370,121 74,326,225
NET ASSETS BEFRE 224,044,747 229,153,728
Capital and reserves BAR S

Share capital RN 35 115,443,328 115,443,328

Reserves {1 36 108,601,419 113,710,400
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 224,044,747 229,153,728

The Company’s statement of financial position were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on
29 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chen Weiwu
BRZE
Chairman

FE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED H E

T

[

-
)

KRB ZHBRAER —F __i/\ﬁ
—thH ﬁ%%%Aﬁt/E&&%%ﬁ*
HTMIIAIRERESFTERE

Jiang Ruowenhao
AIENE
Executive Director
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48. SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries
as at 31 March 2022.

48. fB AT

R-ZZE-——F=A=+—80 " TEWB
RNAEZHIFRWT ©

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name business structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
iR EBERKS  ERAILE TEEBRSENE BRRA/ @RERER FiERARERAN
directly indirectly
BE Bt
BoRen Culture Development Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of US$1 100.0 -
company in the PRC
BOXKERERAR EREFRT  EERAEE MERERALR 1R ¥ &Rk
Shiny Top Limited Limited liability ~Hong Kong Money lending business 10,000 ordinary share of - 100.0
company in Hong Kong HK$10,000
REARAT RREMAR A% RERUEHERE 10,0008 10,000/ 7.2 & ik
Zhong Run Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing - - 100.0
company business in the PRC
hE EREFRE  HE MEERENEARER
Great Regal Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding and 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 1000
company property development
business in Hong Kong
EEBRAT BREMAR  BE REBISREBRRNE  \RIBTCERR
BEEI
Beijing Mingchuang Business Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing - - 1000
Management Co,, Ltd company business in the PRC
FREEBRERERAT EREFRE  4E MEENEARER
Topper Genius Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding in the PRC 10,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company US$10,000
BF EREMAA  EERLES RRERERERR 10,00010,000% 72 8%
Huachuangwen Land" (Note a) Limited liability ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 - 3%.0
company business in the PRC
EHNEN ) RRRfEAA  9E RAERENFERRH ARH10,0000007T
*  For identification only * (EREE
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48. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
acquired the entire equity interest in Topper Group,
details of which are set out in note 32, and has
indirectly held 35% of Hwachuangwen Land with
the remaining 65% held by non-controlling interests.
Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Group
is granted the right to appoint the director of
Huachuangwen Land and the power and authority to
decision making relating to its affairs and business.
Accordingly, the directors consider that the Group
has control over Hwachuangwen Land, which has
been classified as a subsidiary of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities during the year or at the end of the year.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the

Company which, in the opinion of the directors,

principally affected the results for the year or

formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of excessive length.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HERERAA

48. BT (#)

(a)

REBEE_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HI@
FEE AERLBEEESER R
BEHEGERBSE N M FE32) » YRERA
FEHNEM 2 35% © MER T 65% M IE
TRERFA RBWERE A%
EEREZAEZENENES T H
EREEREBEEHEREREL R
F-RAY EERAAEEHSES
AEEWNBRARIZERNEEAE
A o

BB B QRN F R FRETEM
BRES

EXRBRESA/UAFRERERENXN
FEIBUAEEEAT D EERFEL
RABIMBAT - EFRRTI L E A
BRARZFABHSTREBNITE -
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